

# LUND UNIVERSITY

### Requirements for the Induction of Adaptive Immune Responses to Rotavirus

Nakawesi, Joy

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Nakawesi, J. (2021). Requirements for the Induction of Adaptive Immune Responses to Rotavirus. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Requirements for the Induction of Adaptive Immune Responses to Rotavirus

JOY NAKAWESI | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund 2021 0 NORDIC SWAN ECOLABEL 3041 0903





Department of Experimental Medical Science

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:26 ISBN 978-91-8021-032-4 ISSN 1652-8220



# Requirements for the Induction of Adaptive Immune Responses to Rotavirus

Joy Nakawesi

Section for Immunology, Department of Experimental Medical Science



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on April 13<sup>th</sup>, 2021 at 09:00 in A1005 Segerfalksalen, BMC A10, Sölvegatan 17, Lund Sweden.

Faculty opponent

Associate Professor Eduardo Villablanca Karolinska Institutet Stockholm, Sweden

Organization	Document name		
Section for Immunology	Date of issue	Date of issue	
Department of Experimental Medical	Science 13 <sup>th</sup> April 2021		
Faculty of Medicine			
SE-22184 Lund, Sweden			
	Sponsoring organiz	zation	
Author			
Joy Nakawesi			
Title			
Requirements for the Induction of Ada	aptive Immune Responses to Rota	virus	
Abstract			
Rotavirus (RV) infections remain the lo children <5 years of age. Despite the >200,000 deaths annually mostly in t RV infection and protection from futur	eading cause of world-wide diarrhea global introduction of RV vaccines he low-income countries of Africa a re re-infections is mediated by adap	a-associated morbidity and mortality among over a decade ago, RV infections result in and Asia. Efficient clearance of the primary ptive immune responses.	
The aim of the work presented in this the efficient induction of optimal adap	thesis was to investigate the spat tive immune responses towards pr	ial, cellular and molecular requirements for imary RV infection.	
Intestinal RV-specific IgA is the major correlate of protection from re-infection with RV. In <u>Paper I</u> , we demonstrated that Batf3-dependent cDC1 but not cDC2 (specific subsets of antigen-presenting dendritic cells) are required for the optimal induction of T cell-dependent RV-specific IgA responses in the mesenteric lymph nodes (mLNs). Additionally, cDC1-driven RV-specific IgA was dependent on the selective expression of the TGF $\beta$ -activating $\alpha\nu\beta$ 8 integrin by cDC1 while signaling via the type I interferon receptor on the dendritic cells was dispensable.			
In <u>Paper II</u> , we investigated the major intestinal inductive site for the initiation of adaptive immune responses towards primary RV infection using lymphoid organ hypertrophy as a readout. We showed that the RV-induced hypertrophy was confined to the intestinal draining mLNs and resulted from increased recruitment of lymphocytes into the mLN and halted lymphocyte egress from the mLNs. Furthermore, the RV-induced hypertrophy of the mLNs was independent of antigen-specific recognition, type I interferon- and tumor necrosis factor $\alpha$ - receptor signaling.			
Cytotoxic CD8 T cells mediate clearance of primary RV infection. In <u>Paper III</u> , we addressed the role of retinioc acid (RA) signaling in the development and function of CD8 T cells. Using the <i>CD4Cre.dnRAR<sup>st/ls/</sup></i> mouse model, we showed that the absence of RA signaling in the developing thymocytes perturbed thymopoiesis and led to the accumullation of CD8SP thymocytes. Additionally, the abrogated RA signaling in peripheral CD8 T cells. If RA signaling in the cells and impaired cytotoxic activity of the CD8 T cells.			
In <u>Paper IV</u> , we investigated the molecular requirements for the activation and migration of intestinal cDC1 and cDC2 in response to poly(I:C), a TLR3-targeting adjuvant. We demostrated that poly(I:C) induced both cDC1 and cDC2 activation and migration from the small intestinal lamina propria to the mLNs in a TLR3-dependent manner despite the lack of TLR3 expression by cDC2. Furthermore, both cDC1 and cDC2 migration depended on tumor necrosis factor $\alpha$ while cDC1 showed a unique requirement for type I interferon signaling.			
Collectively, the work included in this thesis helps to broaden our understanding of the requirements for the efficient induction of optimal RV-specific adaptive immune responses and provides important insights in the designing of better RV vaccines.			
Key words: Rotavirus, classical deno hypertrophy, retinoic acid, CD8+ T ce	dritic cells, B cells, IgA, mesenteric Ils. TLR3. Polv(I:C)	lymph nodes, lymphoid organ	
Classification system and/or index ter	ms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN and key title		ISBN	
1652-8220		978-91-8021-032-4	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 64	Price	
	Security classification	I	
the undersigned being the convright	owner of the abstract of the above	mentioned dissortation, hereby grant to all	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.



## Requirements for the Induction of Adaptive Immune Responses to Rotavirus

Joy Nakawesi

2021

Section for Immunology, Department of Experimental Medical Science, Faculty of Medicine



Cover photo: Molecular model of Rotavirus by Kateryna Kon © 123RF.com

Copyright pp 1-64 Joy Nakawesi

Paper 1 © Society for Mucosal Immunology 2020

Paper 2 © 2021 Wiley-VCH GmbH

Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 @ 2020 The Authors. European Journal of Immunology published by WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co.KGaA, Weinheim

Department of Experimental Medical Science Faculty of Medicine, Lund University Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:26

ISBN 978-91-8021-032-4 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

To Daddy, Mama and Sandra

'And now these three remain: faith, hope and love. But the greatest of these is love.' 1Corinthians 13:13

# **Table of Contents**

Papers included in this thesis	9
Abbreviations	
1. The Gastrointestinal tract	
The intestine	
The immune inductive sites of the intestine	14
2. Intestinal classical dendritic cells and their role in the	initiation
of adaptive immune responses	
Subsets and functions of intestinal cDC	17
Antigen sensing by intestinal cDC	
Antigen uptake by intestinal cDC	
Intestinal cDC activation and migration to mLNs	
cDC induction of adaptive immunity	
cDC in priming different types of effector T cells	
cDC induction of humoral immunity	
Mucosal IgA induction	
Role of retinoic acid signaling in adaptive immune r	esponses . 26
Lymphoid organ hypertrophy	27
3. Rotavirus	
Global burden	
Transmission	
Rotavirus entry and detection by host cells	
Immunity against Rotavirus	
Rotavirus vaccines	
Rotavirus and autoimmunity	
Present investigation	
Aims of the thesis	

Summary and discussion of the papers	
Paper 1	
Paper 2	
Paper 3	
Paper 4	
Acknowledgements	
References	

## Papers included in this thesis

#### Paper 1

# $\alpha\nu\beta8$ integrin-expression by BATF3-dependent dendritic cells facilitates early IgA responses to Rotavirus

Joy Nakawesi, Sebastien This, Julia Hütter, M. Boucard-Jourdin, V. Barateau, Konjit Getachew Muleta, Lorna Jane Gooday, Kristine Fog Thomsen, Agnes Garcias López, Isabel Ulmert, D. Poncet, B. Malissen, Harry Greenberg, O. Thaunat, T. Defrance, Helena Paidassi and Katharina Lahl

Mucosal Immunol. 2021 Jan; 14(1): 53-67.

#### Paper 2

## Rotavirus infection causes mesenteric lymph node hypertrophy independently of type I interferon or $TNF\alpha$ in mice

Joy Nakawesi, Konjit Getachew Muleta, Dragos-Christian Dasoveanu, Bengt Johansson-Lindbom, Katharina Lahl

European Journal of Immunology 2020 December 22; DOI: 10.1002/eji.202048990

#### Paper 3

## Retinoic acid signaling affects thymic and peripheral CD8 T cell phenotype and function

Kerstin Wendland, Knut Kotarsky, <u>Joy Nakawesi</u>, Kirstine Belling, Kristoffer Niss, Katarzyna M. Sitnik, Katharina Lahl and William W. Agace

In manuscript

#### Paper 4

## Migration of murine intestinal dendritic cell subsets upon intrinsic and extrinsic TLR3 stimulation

Agnes Garcias López, Vasileios Bekiaris, Katarzyna Müller Luda, Julia Hütter, Isabel Ulmert, Konjit Getachew Muleta, <u>Joy Nakawesi</u>, Knut Kotarsky, Bernard Malissen, Meredith O'Keeffe, Bernhard Holzmann, William Winston Agace and Katharina Lahl

Eur J Immunol. 2020 Oct; 50(10): 1525-1536.

## Abbreviations

Ag	Antigen
AID	Activation-induced cytidine deaminase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
APRIL	A proliferation-inducing ligand
BAFF	B cell activating factor
Batf3	Basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3
BCR	B cell receptor
CSR	Class switch recombination
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
cDC	Classical dendritic cell
DC	Dendritic cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA
dnRAR	Dominant-negative retinoic acid receptor
EC	Epithelial cell
FAE	Follicle-associated epithelium
FcR	Fc receptor
FoxP3	Forkhead box P3
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid organs
GC	Germinal center
GI	Gastrointestinal
HEV	High endothelial venule
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
Ig	Immunoglobulin
i.p	Intraperitoneally
ID2	Inhibitor of DNA binding 2
IEC	Intestinal epithelial cell
IFN	Interferon

ILFS	Isolated lymphoid follicles
ISG	Interferon-stimulated genes
IFNAR	Type I interferon receptor
KO	Knockout
LI	Large intestine
LN	Lymph node
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAD5	Melanoma differentiation-associated protein-5 receptor
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
mLN	Mesenteric lymph nodes
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
poly(I:C)	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PRR	Pattern recognition receptors
pLN	Peripheral lymph nodes
PPs	Peyer's Patches
RA	Retinoic acid
RIG I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene 1-like receptor
RAG	Recombination-activating gene
RV	Rotavirus
sIgA	Secretory IgA
SED	Subepithelial dome
SI	Small intestine
SiLP	Small intestine Lamina Propria
S1P	Sphingosine 1 phosphate
S1PR	Sphingosine 1 phosphate receptor
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
TD	T cell-dependent
TCR	T cell receptor

TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta
Tfh	Follicular helper T cell
Th	Helper T cell
TI	T cell-independent
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TNFR	Tumour necrosis factor receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TLP	Triple-layered particle
Treg	Regulatory T cell
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor
VAD	Vitamin A deficient
VP	Viral protein
VLP	Virus-like particle
WT	wild type
WHO	World Health Organisation
Zbtb46	Zinc finger and BTB domain containing 46

## 1. The Gastrointestinal tract

The human gastrointestinal tract (GI tract) extends from the mouth to the anus and is composed of multiple organs of the digestive system, including the mouth, esophagus, stomach, small intestine and large intestine. The GI tract is about 9m long, making it the body's largest surface to the environment and a major site of entry for many microorganisms. The GI tract is designed to perform the dual roles of food digestion and nutrient uptake while maintaining immune homeostasis, i.e., discriminate between the invasive harmful pathogens and the harmless antigens (Ags) derived from commensal microbiota and food (immunity against the bad and tolerance towards the good). The GI tract is anatomically composed of different layers; the inner mucosal layer, which consists of a single layer of absorptive and secretory epithelial cells, the underlying lamina propria (LP), and a thin layer below the LP called the muscularis mucosa. The remaining layers in the GI tract include the submucosal layer which contains the lymphatic vessels, nerves, and connective tissue. Finally, the GI tract contains a smooth muscle layer and an outer thick fibrous serosa which separates the intestine from the surrounding peritoneal cavity<sup>1–3</sup>.

#### The intestine

The intestine is a long continuous tube-like organ extending from the pyloric sphincter of the stomach to the anus. It is divided into the small and large intestine. The small intestine (SI) has the primary role in digestion and absorption of nutrients from food. In humans, it is about 6 - 7m long, beginning from the pylorus and ends at the ileocecal valve. It is compartmentalised into the duodenum (about 20 - 25cm long), the jejunum (2.5m long) and the ileum (3m long). The large intestine (LI) is ~1.5m long and begins at the caecum, followed by the proximal colon, transverse colon, distal colon, the rectum and terminates at the anus. The SI surface is characterised by multiple long finger-like projections named villi, which extend into the lumen and serve to increase the surface area for food digestion and nutrient absorption. The villi become progressively shorter towards the end of the SI and are absent from the caecum and colon whose main function is water and salt reabsorption from the undigested food passed on from the SI.

Along the entire intestine, the epithelial cells (ECs) are derived from multi-potent stem cells that reside in the intestinal crypt invaginations known as crypts of Lieberkühn. These give rise to various mature and specialised ECs including the absorptive

enterocytes, Paneth cells, goblet cells and neuroendocrine cells. The absorptive enterocytes are covered with a brush-border consisting of projections called microvilli. The Paneth cells, which are mainly concentrated in the ileum, produce a range of antimicrobial peptides, which serve to maintain a sterile crypt environment. The goblet cells are the mucus-secreting cells, and they comprise at least 25% of the ECs in the LI and 10% or less in the SI. The mucus layer (glycocalyx) serves as an antimicrobial physical barrier between the lumen and the lamina propria<sup>1,4–6</sup>.

#### The immune inductive sites of the intestine

Immune inductive sites are the main locations for the priming of adaptive immune responses in the body. The immune inductive sites of the intestine consist of the Peyer's patches (PPs) and the Isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs) – which together make up the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) - and the mesenteric lymph nodes (mLNs) (Figure 1).

#### Mesenteric lymph nodes

The mLNs are the intestinal draining lymph nodes<sup>7</sup>. They are the largest LNs in the body and their main function is to filter and scan lymph coming from the SI and LI for Ags and either generate adaptive immune responses against the pathogenic Ags or tolerance in the case of harmless Ags. Ag arriving in the mLNs is either free (passively drained via the lymphatics)<sup>8,9</sup> or loaded onto the dendritic cells (DCs) migrating from the intestinal LP via the afferent lymphatics in a CCR7-dependent manner<sup>10</sup>. mLNs consist of three main compartments, the cortex (contains the B cell follicles), the paracortex (contains the T cell zone) and the medullar sinus (contains macrophages and APCs). Naïve lymphocytes migrate to the mLNs from the blood via the high endothelial venules (HEVs). Upon activation and differentiation into effector cells, lymphocytes primed in the mLNs home to the intestinal effector sites (i.e., the LP and the overlying epithelium) via the efferent lymphatics<sup>11,12</sup>.

#### Peyer's patches

Mature PPs are macroscopically visible secondary lymphoid organs that are distributed along the SI. They are rare in the duodenum but their size and numbers increase from the jejunum to the ileum<sup>13</sup>. The epithelium overlying the PPs has a less distinct brush-border and is known as the follicle-associated epithelium (FAE). The FAE contains specialised intestinal ECs called microfold (M) cells that mediate uptake and transport of particulate Ags from the intestinal lumen into the underlying subepithelial dome (SED). The SED of the PPs contains large and numerous B cell follicles (which always contain germinal centers (GCs)) surrounded by smaller T cell areas. The SED is also rich in cDCs, which are the main APCs in the GALT. PPs are important sites for T cell-dependent IgA induction and class switch recombination (CSR) in the gut. Unlike the mLNs, PPs lack afferent lymphatics<sup>1,14–17</sup>.

#### Isolated lymphoid follicles

ILFs are small aggregations of lymphoid structures distributed in tandem on the antimesenteric wall of the SI from the duodenum to the ileum. About 100 - 200 ILFs exist in 8 - 20 weeks old C57BL/6 mice. ILFs are smaller than the PPs and lack the T cell zones. Similar to PPs, ILFs are predominantly filled with B cells, contain GCs and are covered by the FAE containing M cells<sup>18</sup>. Different studies have documented the nonredundant roles of ILFs as great reservoirs for intestinal IgA induction against a broad range of Ags and enteric microbiota (reviewed in<sup>19</sup>). A study by Tsuji et al demonstrated that cross-talks between the ROR $\gamma$ t<sup>+</sup> lymphoid inducer cells, stromal cells, bacteria, DCs, and B cells are essential for the formation of ILFs. The authors further showed that ILFs but not PPs, are the sites for the induction of Activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) and T cell-independent IgA CSR<sup>20</sup>.

cDC, macrophages, IgA producing plasma cells, B and T cells. The Peyer's Patches, Isolated lymphoid follicles and draining mLNs represent the immune contents (which include the microbiota and food Ags) from the underlying lamina propria. The lamina propria contains several types of immune cells including Figure 1. Structure of the intestinal immune system. The intestinal lamina propria is covered by a single layer of epithelial cells which separate the luminal inductive sites of the intestine. Depicted are cDC present in the lamina propria migrating to the mLNs via afferent lymphatics. Figure created using BioRender.com



# 2. Intestinal classical dendritic cells and their role in the initiation of adaptive immune responses

Dendritic cells (DCs) were first discovered by Ralph M. Steinman and Zanvil A. Cohn in 1973 as 'large stellate cells with distinct properties from other mononuclear phagocytes, granulocytes and lymphocytes' in preparations of adherent mouse splenocytes on glass and plastic surfaces<sup>21</sup>. Decades later, over 90,000 studies on DC biology and function have been made and for this discovery, Ralph M. Steinman was awarded the Alfred Nobel's prize in Medicine in 2011<sup>22</sup>.

DCs are present in all mammalian peripheral tissues and they are described as motile sentinel professional antigen-presenting cells (APC) that play key roles in innate immunity and in the initiation and regulation of adaptive immune responses<sup>23</sup>. The classical DCs (cDCs) express the DC-specific transcription factor Zinc finger and BTB domain-containing protein 46 (ZBTB46) and depend on FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) ligand for their development<sup>24–27</sup>.

In the intestinal mucosa, cDCs are distributed throughout the intestinal LP, GALT (PPs and ILFs) and the intestinal draining mLNs. cDCs in the LP continuously sample the intestinal environment for Ags derived from food and microorganisms or self Ags (dead/damaged cells). After acquisition of Ags, cDCs migrate from the intestinal LP to the mLNs via afferent lymphatics in a chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7)-dependent manner to present the processed Ags to naïve lymphocytes<sup>10,28–32</sup>.

#### Subsets and functions of intestinal cDC

cDCs are generally identified as  $CD11c^+MHCII^+$  and lack expression of the macrophage-associated markers CD64 and F4/80. In the mouse intestinal LP, three main cDC subsets have been identified, which are classified based on their expression of the  $\alpha E$  (CD103) integrin and CD11b. These include CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> (cDC1), CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> and CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> (collectively cDC2), and a minor CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> cDC subset. These cDC subsets differ in their transcription factor requirements for development and maintenance (**Figure 2**). They have also been shown to have distinct roles in maintaining intestinal immune homeostasis<sup>1,33–35</sup>.

#### cDC1

While cDC1 share CD103 expression with a subset of cDC2 in the intestinal LP, all cDC1 express the chemokine receptor XCR1, the C-type lectin receptor DNGR-1 (CLEC9A), and the CD8aa homodimer. For their development and differentiation, cDC1 depend on the Interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8), Basic leucine-rich zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3 (BATF3), and Inhibitor of DNA binding 2 (ID2) transcription factors<sup>36–40</sup>. *Irf8* is required for the specification of the pre-cDC1 precursors in the bone marrow and *Batf3* maintains pre-cDC1 commitment to the cDC1 lineage via autoactivation of the *Irf8* gene<sup>41</sup>. *Batf3<sup>KO</sup>* mice lack cDC1 at steady-state<sup>36</sup>.

The *Xcr1*-DTA, *Clec9a*-DTR, *Cd11c-cre.Irf8*<sup>*nl/l*</sup>, *Zbtb46-cre.Irf8*<sup>*nl/l*</sup>, and *Batf3*<sup>*KO*</sup> mouse models have been widely utilised to examine the in vivo functions of cDC1<sup>36,38,39,42-44</sup>. cDC1 were shown to be critical in the maintenance of T cell homeostasis in the SiLP and its overlying epithelium<sup>38,42</sup>. cDC1 support T cell homeostasis through various mechanisms: Migratory cDC1 in the mLNs appear to be the major source of cDC-derived retinoic acid (RA), which induces gut homing CCR9 and  $\alpha_4\beta_7$  receptors on the responding T cells<sup>38</sup>. Upon arrival in the mLNs, they also preferentially express high levels of the TGFβ-activating  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 8 integrin, which is important in the induction of regulatory T cells (Tregs)<sup>45</sup>. Additionally, cDC1 play a dominant role in cross-presenting epithelial-derived Ags to CD8 T cells at steady-state<sup>29</sup> and they are required for the optimal induction of CD8 T cell responses towards viruses and tumours<sup>36,46</sup>. Finally, we (discussed in detail in paper 1 in this thesis) have also shown that cDC1 are essential for mounting optimal RV-specific IgA antibody responses in the mLN<sup>47</sup>.

#### cDC2

The intestine harbours two subgroups of cDC2,  $CD103^+CD11b^+$  and  $CD103^-CD11b^+$  populations. Collectively, both subgroups express high levels of signal regulatory protein  $\alpha$  (SIRP $\alpha$ /CD172a) and the DC inhibitory receptor 2 (DCIR2)<sup>48</sup>. The Interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4), Interferon regulatory factor 2 (IRF2), neurogenic locus notch homolog protein 2 (Notch2), RelB and Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) transcription factors partially regulate development, function, and maintenance of cDC2<sup>40,48-52</sup>.

Mouse models like *Cd11c-cre.Irf4*<sup>*ll/l*</sup> and *hulangerin*-DTA (among others) have been utilised to study the role of cDC2 in intestinal immunity<sup>48,53</sup>. Mice lacking CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 show selectively reduced intestinal Th17 cell numbers. This finding suggested a key role for CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 in intestinal Th17 homeostasis<sup>48,49,53,54</sup>. Intestinal Th2 responses against *Trichuris muris* worms and *Schistosoma mansoni* eggs do not develop in mice lacking the IRF4-dependent cDC2<sup>55</sup>. CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> and CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 are essential for the induction of Th2 cell responses in the SI and colon, respectively, during infection with parasites<sup>55</sup>. CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 produce high amounts of IL-23 in response to *Citrobacter rodentium* infection<sup>52</sup> and upon challenge with bacterial flagellin<sup>56</sup>. This cDC2-driven IL-23 is critical for driving IL-22 production by innate lymphoid cells type 3 (ILC3) which promotes intestinal barrier integrity by inducing the production of antimicrobial peptides from epithelial cells<sup>52,56</sup>. cDC2 present in the PPs SED were reported to drive IgA CSR against oral Ags and commensal microbiota<sup>17,57–59</sup>.



**Figure 2. Intestinal classical dendritic (cDC) subsets.** The murine intestinal cDCs are mainly divided into three major subsets based on their expression of CD103 and CD11b. CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> belong to the cDC1 lineage and CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> and CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> represent the cDC2 lineage. cDC1 and cDC2 differ in their transcription factor requirements for development and maintenance. *Figure created using BioRender.com* 

#### Antigen sensing by intestinal cDC

cDCs sense and sample their local environments via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognise pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) found on microorganisms or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are components released by damaged/dead cells. The PRRs are either membrane-bound as for example Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), which sense extracellular bacteria and parasites, or cytoplasmic as for example NOD-like receptors and RIG-1-like receptors, which sense viruses and intracellular bacteria.

cDC1 and cDC2 vary in their expression patterns of PRRs. cDC1 express high levels of TLR3, an endosomal PRR that detects viral dsRNA<sup>60–62</sup> and DNGR-1, a CLR that binds filamentous actin, a DAMP exposed by dead cells<sup>63,64</sup>. On the other hand, cDC2 uniquely express high levels of TLR5, a membrane-bound PRR that detects bacterial flagellin<sup>59,65</sup>. This unique expression of PRRs by cDC subsets allows for activation of different arms of the immune system. Targeting of Ags to CLEC9A<sup>+</sup> cDC1 enhances antibody responses in the absence of adjuvants and TLR signaling pathways<sup>63</sup>. A study by Schulz et al demonstrated that TLR3 expression by APC permits cross-priming of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) against viruses that do not directly infect DCs<sup>60</sup>. The expression of TLR5 by cDC2 was shown to be essential in the induction of long-lived T cell-dependent antibody responses against

bacterial flagellin<sup>59</sup>. Uematsu and colleagues showed that CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells in the intestinal LP detect and induce innate immune responses against pathogenic bacteria in a TLR5-dependent manner<sup>65</sup>. Collectively, all cDCs express a wide range of PRRs that enable them to recognise and respond to a broad range of microorganisms and apoptotic/damaged cells in the body tissues.

#### Antigen uptake by intestinal cDC

As professional APCs, cDCs are distributed throughout the intestinal LP, which they constantly survey for Ags. Several mechanisms by which cDCs acquire Ags in the intestinal LP have been proposed. First, cDCs directly acquire Ags from apoptotic or damaged IEC within the intestinal LP<sup>29</sup>. In the case of luminal Ags, an initial study by Rescigno et al reported that DCs present in the intestinal LP express tight junction proteins that enable them to send their dendrites between IEC directly into the lumen to sample bacteria while preserving the epithelial barrier integrity<sup>66</sup>. Several follow-up studies further confirmed this mechanism<sup>67,68</sup>. Further, using the *cx<sub>3</sub>cr1<sup>GFP/GFP</sup>* mice, Niess et al showed that LP cDCs acquire luminal Ags by forming CX<sub>3</sub>CR1-dependent transepithelial dendrites<sup>69</sup>. cDCs have also been shown to acquire luminal Ags and bacteria indirectly via the M-cells located in the FAE of the PPs<sup>70,71</sup>. Finally, studies also reported that luminal Ags can be transported via the goblet cells present in the intestinal epithelium to cDCs in the intestinal LP<sup>72,73</sup>.

Upon Ag encounter, cDCs take up the foreign or self Ags via several mechanisms. These include receptor-mediated endocytosis via Fc receptors, TLR and CLR (for example mannose receptor), and the larger materials are taken up via phagocytosis. These Ags are processed within the cell vesicles and the peptides are loaded on MHC molecules for presentation to naïve lymphocytes in the mLNs<sup>74</sup>.

#### Intestinal cDC activation and migration to mLNs

At steady-state, intestinal cDCs are generally immature (resting). Immature cDCs are characterised by high endocytosis and/or phagocytic activity, and low expression of surface MHCII, but instead high levels of intracellular MHCII molecules within the lysosomal cell compartment. Immature cDCs also have a low T cell activation potential. Acquisition of Ags by cDCs leads to immediate cDC maturation. This is accompanied by increased surface expression of MHCII molecules, co-stimulatory molecules (CD80/86), and CD40. Finally, the activated-Ag loaded cDCs upregulate the chemokine receptor CCR7 which drives their migration from the intestinal LP to the draining mLNs via the afferent lymphatics<sup>10,27–29,31,32,74,75</sup>.

In the mLNs, the cDCs process the Ags into peptides which are then loaded onto surface MHCII or MHCI molecules for presentation to naïve CD4 T cells and CD8

T cells, respectively<sup>74</sup>. The Ag is presented to naïve B cells in its native form<sup>76–79</sup>. The outcome of this cDC-naïve lymphocyte interaction may lead to immunity (in the case of Ags derived from pathogens)<sup>28,80</sup> or tolerance (in the case of Ags derived from food, commensal microbiota, and self)<sup>30,31,44</sup>.

## cDC induction of adaptive immunity

#### cDC in priming different types of effector T cells

Pioneering studies by Steinman et al revealed that lymphoid DCs have the potential to stimulate T cells in vitro<sup>81</sup>. Indeed, the constitutive or conditional ablation of DCs in mice confirmed their role in the priming of naïve T cell responses<sup>82,83</sup>. Optimal activation and induction of protective T cell responses by cDCs is believed to rely on three distinct signals. Signal 1 involves the presentation of cognate Ag in the context of MHC molecules by cDC to the T cell receptor (TCR). The second signal is provided by the upregulation of costimulatory molecules (CD80/CD86) by cDC that bind to CD28 on T cells. Finally, signal 3 is provided by the instructing cytokines which determine the type of effector T cell response induced<sup>74,84</sup>. Direct stimulation of cDCs via PRRs is critical for the induction of protective T cell responses. cDCs indirectly activated by exposure to inflammatory signals are able to only induce T cell proliferation, but fail to direct full T cell differentiation as these T cells lack effector functions<sup>85</sup>. T cell encounter of cognate Ag presented on MHC molecules on activated cDC but without costimulatory signals contributes to peripheral tolerance<sup>86,87</sup>. Ags presented on MHCII molecules elicit CD4 T cell responses, which can be polarised towards either Th1, Th2, Th17 or Tregs depending on the polarising cytokines released. Ags presented on MHC1 molecules elicits CD8 T cell responses.

Th1

Th1 cells require IL-12 cytokine for their differentiation<sup>88,89</sup> and are critical for immunity against intracellular bacteria and viruses. Fujimoto et al showed that both cDC1 and cDC2 can induce Th1 responses in vitro<sup>90</sup>. An in vivo study by Luda et al demonstrated that cDC1 are essential for the generation and survival of steady-state Th1 cells in the intestinal mucosa<sup>38</sup>. Th1 cells play key roles in phagocyte-dependent host responses. Th1 cells produce IFN $\gamma$ , TNF and IL-2 cytokines which promote the activation of macrophages, the production of opsonising and complement-fixing antibodies by B cells and thus induction of cell mediated immunity<sup>91,92</sup>.

#### Th2

Naïve CD4 T cells differentiate into Th2 cells in the presence of IL-4 cytokine<sup>93</sup>. These cells produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, IL-9, and IL-25, which are critical for immunity against extracellular parasites (such as helminths) and allergic inflammatory responses<sup>94</sup>. IL-4 production by Th2 cells mediates IgE class switching in B cells<sup>95</sup>. IRF4-dependent cDC2 are essential for driving Th2 responses against *Trichuris muris* worms and *Schistosoma mansoni* eggs at the intestinal mucosa<sup>55</sup>. Furthermore, this study also revealed a specific functional heterogeneity among the intestinal cDC2 subpopulations in driving Th2 responses. CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 were shown to drive Th2 responses in the small intestine whereas CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 perform this role in the colon<sup>55</sup>.

#### Th17

Th17 cells are the most abundant Th cells in the intestine at steady-state. Th17 cell differentiation requires TGF $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-21 cytokines<sup>96–98</sup>. Th17 cells are proinflammatory cells that secrete IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 cytokines and provide immunity against several extracellular pathogens<sup>99</sup>. A study by Persson et al demonstrated that IRF4-dependent CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> intestinal cDC2 are essential for the generation and differentiation of Th17 cells in the mLNs in vivo<sup>48</sup>. Similarly, Denning et al showed that only the CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 efficiently induced Th17 cells in vitro<sup>100</sup>. In both studies, Th17 polarisation was linked to the capacity of cDC2 to produce IL-6 cytokine<sup>48,100</sup>.

#### Tregs

Tregs control the proinflammatory responses of effector Th cells<sup>101</sup>. Tregs suppress T cell activation against self and harmless Ags such as commensal microbiota<sup>102,103</sup>. Natural Tregs are derived from the thymus during T cell development whereas naïve CD4 T cells exposed to TGF $\beta$  give rise to inducible Tregs in the periphery. Transport of Ags from the intestinal LP to the mLNs by migratory cDCs is critical in the induction of Tregs that mediate oral tolerance against food Ags<sup>31</sup>. cDCs isolated from the SiLP and mLNs were shown to induce the generation of Tregs via a TGF $\beta$ - and RA-dependent mechanism<sup>104,105</sup>. Furthermore, mice that lack the TGF $\beta$ -activating  $\alpha\nu\beta\beta$  integrin on all cDCs have reduced Tregs in the colon in vivo. Cells isolated from these mice fail to induce Tregs in vitro<sup>45</sup>. These results demonstrate the critical role for cDCs in the provision of bioactive TGF $\beta$  as an essential cytokine for the induction of Tregs.

#### Cytotoxic CD8 T cells

Ags presented on MHC class I molecules prime naïve CD8 T cells, which then clonally expand and differentiate into cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL). CTL provide immunity against viral infections, intracellular bacterial infections and cancer via their production of perforin, granzymes and IFN $\gamma^{106}$ . Terminal CTL differentiation

requires the cytokine IL-2<sup>107</sup>. Migratory cDC1 have the unique ability to crosspresent epithelial-derived Ag (from apoptotic ECs) to naïve CD8 T cells in the mLNs at steady-state<sup>29</sup>. Cross-presentation is a unique ability of cDC1 to acquire, process and present exogenous Ags on MHCI to naïve CD8 T cells. This process is critical for immunity against tumours and viruses that do not readily infect the APCs but rather infect other peripheral tissue cells. Mice lacking cDC1 displayed deficiencies in cross-presenting Ags to CD8 T cells in vivo<sup>38</sup>. Similarly, it has been shown that cDC1 are essential for the optimal induction of CD8 T cell responses during Rotavirus infection<sup>47,108</sup>. CD103<sup>-</sup> lymph-borne DCs were also shown to efficiently cross-present Ags and prime naïve CD8 T cells in vitro<sup>28</sup>.

#### cDC induction of humoral immunity

cDCs have been greatly recognised for their capacity to process and present Ag on MHC molecules to prime naïve T cells. On the other hand, B cells can only recognise Ag via the B cell receptor (BCR) in its native and unprocessed form.

cDCs sense and take up Ags using a variety of receptors. The type of receptor used in Ag uptake determines the fate of the Ag. Ag uptake via the activating Fc receptors (FcyRI, FcyRIII, FcyRIV) recruits the degradative pathway into the lysosome which allows Ag processing into peptides. Ag uptake via the inhibitory FcyRIIB receptor recruits a non-degradative pathway that retains the Ag in its native form. An initial study by Wykes et al showed that DCs directly interacted and transferred Ag in its native form to B cells<sup>109</sup>. The study also showed that DCs could retain the native Ag for at least 48 hours both in vivo and in vitro. In another study, Bergtold and colleagues showed that immune complexes (ICs) internalised via the FcyRIIB receptor on DCs were stored and recycled to the cell surface for direct presentation to B cells in their native form<sup>79</sup>. Using mAb to deliver Ag in vivo, Chappell et al showed that Ag uptake via the DC inhibitory receptor 2 (DCIR2), which is uniquely expressed by cDC2, induced robust IgG1 humoral responses<sup>110</sup>. Similarly, a study by Caminschi et al demonstrated that targeting of Ag directly to the DNGR-1 (CLEC9A) receptor, which is uniquely expressed by cDC1 using CLEC9A mAb significantly enhanced antibody responses in vivo<sup>63</sup>. Complement receptors (CR1, CR2, CR3 and CR4) have also been implicated in the presentation of native Ag to B cells<sup>78,77</sup>. Collectively, cDCs are well equipped to efficiently capture and retain Ags or ICs in their native unprocessed form to induce the activation of naïve B cells.

#### **Mucosal IgA induction**

Approximately 80% of the body's total plasma cells (PCs) are in the intestinal mucosa where they constantly secrete dimeric Immunoglobulin A (IgA). In humans, 3 - 5g/day of dimeric IgA is secreted under steady-state conditions. Secretory IgA (sIgA) serves as an immunological barrier at the intestinal mucosa by neutralising

and suppressing microbial toxins and growth, respectively. sIgA coats the intestinal microbiota thus preventing microbial attachment to the IEC<sup>111</sup>. Homeostatic (natural) IgA is induced by constant stimulation with the commensal microbiota present in the intestinal mucosa. Indeed, germ-free mice and neonates before microbial colonisation have significantly reduced IgA-secreting PCs<sup>112,113</sup>. cDCs present in the intestinal LP continuously sample luminal microbial Ags and cDCs carrying commensal bacterial Ags induce IgA class switching. The cDC-mediated IgA induction occurs either via T cell-dependent (TD) or T cell-independent (TI) pathways in the GALT and mLNs<sup>57,111,114</sup>.

#### T cell-dependent IgA induction

TD IgA induction primarily occurs in the GCs within the B cell follicles of the PPs and mLNs<sup>111,115</sup>. TD IgA induction involves interactions between Ag-specific B cells expressing CD40 and Ag-specific CD4 T cells (follicular helper T cells, Tfh) expressing CD40L<sup>115</sup> (Figure 3A). To receive CD4 T cell help, first the naïve CD4 T cells are activated by cDCs presenting cognate Ags on MHCII, while providing costimulatory signals and IL-6 and IL-21 cytokines to promote pre-Tfh differentiation. These pre-Tfh cells then migrate to the T-B cell border in a CXCR5 dependent manner<sup>58,114</sup>. Second, naïve B cells in the B cell follicles are activated by cDCs carrying cognate Ag in its native form<sup>109,114</sup>. The activated Ag-specific B cells migrate to the T-B cell border in a CCR7 dependent manner in pursuit of T cell help<sup>58,78,114</sup>. Interactions between the Ag-specific B cells and pre-Tfh cells at the T-B cell border leads to full Tfh differentiation. The Tfh cells deliver signals including CD40L, IL-21 and IL-4 which promote B cell survival, proliferation, and differentiation. Cross-linking of the CD40 on B cells and CD40L on Tfh cells induces the activation of Activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), an RNA editing enzyme that initiates CSR in the activated B cells<sup>111,114,115</sup>. The cDCs also provide bioactive TGFB which, together with CD40-CD40L is essential for the IgA CSR<sup>116</sup>. This GC reaction also promotes somatic hypermutations within the BCR to increase the antibody's affinity for the Ag, thus producing highly specific monoclonal antibodies<sup>57,78,111,114</sup>

#### T cell-independent IgA induction

The TI IgA induction mainly occurs in the intestinal LP and the ILFs independent of CD40L and CD4 T cell help<sup>117–119</sup>. The Ag-loaded cDCs directly induce TI IgA synthesis through the upregulation of B cell-activating factor (BAFF, also known as B lymphocyte stimulator protein) and a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL)<sup>120</sup> (**Figure 3B**). BAFF and APRIL expressed by cDCs as soluble or membrane-bound, directly bind to different receptors on B cells. BAFF binds to BAFF receptor (BAFF-R), transmembrane activator and calcium modulator and cyclophilin ligand interactor (TACI) and the B cell maturation antigen (BCMA). APRIL binds to TACI with low affinity and BCMA with high affinity<sup>121</sup>. The cross-linking of BAFF and APRIL on the Ag-loaded cDCs to their receptors on B cells activates a CD40-like

pathway that promotes B cell survival and induce AID expression which initiates CSR in the activated B cells. The cytokine TGF $\beta$  is also essential in the TI IgA class switching<sup>111,117,120,122-124</sup>.



**Figure 3. Induction of mucosal IgA by TD and TI pathways.** cDCs have the capacity to retain and recycle Ag in its native form on their surface to prime naïve B cells. In the TD manner, the CD40-CD40L interaction between Ag-specific B and T cells plus the provision of bioactive TGF $\beta$  induces IgA CSR within the germinal centers. In the TI manner, cDCs upregulate soluble or membrane-bound BAFF and APRIL which bind to BCMA, TACI and BAFF-R on activated B cells. Interactions between these ligand-receptor signals plus bioactive TGF $\beta$  induce IgA CSR. *Figure created using BioRender.com* 

#### Role of TGF<sup>β</sup> in IgA induction

The transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ) is the principal cytokine required for IgA CSR in activated B cells<sup>125</sup>. Bioactive TGF $\beta$  engages the heterotetrameric TGF $\beta$  receptor (TGF $\beta$ R) complex. Cross-linking of the TGF $\beta$ -TGF $\beta$ R on the activated B cells initiates C $\alpha$  gene transcription, which leads to IgA isotype class switching<sup>111,125</sup>. TGF $\beta$  was shown to specifically induce IgA class switching in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated murine splenic B cell cultures in vitro<sup>126,127</sup>. TGF $\beta$  only induces a small proportion of activated B cells to give rise to IgA-secreting PCs. However, the addition of IL-2 and IL-5 cytokines significantly enhances IgA secretion in LPS-stimulated B cell cultures in vitro<sup>126,128</sup>.

#### TGF<sup>β</sup> Activation

TGFß is a pleiotropic cytokine that is ubiquitously secreted by many cell types in the body in an inactive (latent) form. The latent TGFß must be activated to exert its biological effects. After it has been synthesised, the TGFß homodimer interacts with a latency-associated peptide (LAP) forming a complex called small latent complex (SLC). The SLC remains in the cell until it is bound by another protein called latent TGF $\beta$  binding protein (LTBP) forming a larger complex called large latent complex (LLC). This LLC then gets secreted into the extracellular matrix<sup>129</sup>. To release the active TGF $\beta$ , the LTBP and LAP must be cleaved from the LLC.

Physical processes including heat, acidic conditions, reactive oxygen species as well as biological processes such as proteolysis (mediated by proteases such as plasmin and metalloproteases) and integrins can be used to activate latent  $TGF\beta^{130,131}$ .

Integrins such as  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  (which is restricted to a subset of epithelial cells) and  $\alpha\nu\beta8$  (which is mainly expressed by immune cells such as T cells and cDC) activate TGF $\beta^{45,132,133}$ . The  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  and  $\alpha\nu\beta8$  integrins bind to an RGD amino acid sequence present in the LAP thus releasing the active TGF $\beta^{131}$ . An initial study by Munger et al identified a role for the  $\alpha\nu\beta6$  integrin in locally regulating TGF $\beta$  function in vivo<sup>132</sup>. Further, Mu et al reported that the  $\alpha\nu\beta8$  integrin is essential for activating latent TGF $\beta$  and maintaining epithelial homeostasis<sup>133</sup>. A study by Travis et al showed that the  $\alpha\nu\beta8$  integrin expressed on the cDCs is critical in providing bioactive TGF $\beta$  as cells from mice that lack the integrin on all cDCs failed to induce Tregs in vitro, an effect that depends on TGF $\beta$  activity<sup>45</sup>.

#### Role of retinoic acid signaling in adaptive immune responses

Retinoic acid (RA) is a vitamin A metabolite that plays key roles in regulating mucosal immune responses and a variety of biological processes in the body. Vitamin A is obtained from the diet through the consumption of foods containing vitamin A precursors (such as  $\beta$ -carotene present in plant foods) or vitamin A in the form of retinyl esters (present in foods of animal origin). In the intestinal lumen, the dietary vitamin A is absorbed by enterocytes and is converted to retinol, which can be transported to the liver for long-term storage<sup>134,135</sup>. RA is generated from retinol in two enzymatic reactions. The first is a reversible reaction in which retinol is oxidised to retinal by the ubiquitously expressed alcohol dehydrogenase enzyme. In the second reaction, retinal is irreversibly converted to RA by retinal dehydrogenase enzymes<sup>135,136</sup>.

RA plays important roles in humoral immune responses and is essential for IgA production by B cells. Studies by Tokuyama et al showed that RA enhances IgA production in LPS-stimulated splenocytes<sup>137,138</sup>. Vitamin A deficient (VAD) mice have significantly reduced IgA-secreting cells following Influenza vaccination, but the administration of oral RA corrected and re-established the mucosal IgA responses in these mice<sup>139</sup>. In combination with lactoferrin (a monomeric glycoprotein that is abundant at mucosal surfaces), RA was shown to significantly enhance IgA production by peritoneal B-1 cells in vitro<sup>140</sup>. Further, cDC-derived RA in the PPs and mLNs is essential in the generation of gut-homing receptors  $\alpha4\beta7$  and CCR9 on IgA-secreting PCs<sup>141,142</sup>.

RA plays important roles in the shaping of peripheral T cell responses. A study from the Belkaid group showed that cDCs present in the SiLP are essential in promoting the de novo generation of Tregs in a RA-dependent manner<sup>105</sup>. Just like in B cells, cDC-derived RA imprints gut-homing receptors on effector T cells in the mLNs<sup>143-</sup> <sup>145</sup>. In addition, RA modulates Th1/Th2 responses in vivo. A study by Iwata et al demonstrated that RA directly suppresses Th1 development and directly enhances Th2 development<sup>146</sup>. In agreement with this study, Stephensen et al showed that the disruption of the retinoid X receptor in T cells produces a bias towards the Th1 phenotype in vivo<sup>147</sup>. Further, different studies have shown that RA regulates the Th17/Treg balance mainly in the intestinal mucosa. At steady-state, RA was shown to increase Treg development by enhancing TGFB-driven Smad3 signaling and inhibit Th17 development by inhibiting the expression of IL-6 and IL-23 receptors<sup>148</sup>. In an experimental model of DSS-induced colitis, RA was shown to attenuate intestinal inflammation by enhancing the production of IL-22 by innate lymphoid cells (ILC3) and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells<sup>149</sup> and via inhibition of NF-  $\kappa$ B activation<sup>150</sup>. In line with these studies, Okayasu and colleagues showed that vitamin A inhibits the development of DSS-induced colitis and colon cancer in mice<sup>151</sup>.

## Lymphoid organ hypertrophy

Efficient immune surveillance involves the continuous recirculation of lymphocytes between blood, lymphoid organs, and lymph in search for Ags. Naïve B and T cells enter the lymph nodes from the blood via HEV, from where they travel into the B cell follicles in a CXCR5- and into the T cell zone in a CCR7-dependent manner, respectively. Under steady-state conditions, it is estimated that the lymph node median dwell times are approximately 6 - 8 hours for CD4 T cells, 8 - 12 hours for CD8 T cells, and up to 24 hours for B cells. Lymphocyte exit from the lymph nodes occurs via the efferent lymphatics<sup>152–155</sup>. Lymphocyte recirculation and lymph node cellularity are tightly controlled under steady-state conditions<sup>156</sup> but this rapidly changes upon infection and/or inflammation leading to transient hypertrophy of the local responding lymph nodes<sup>157–161</sup>.

Earlier studies in sheep revealed that injection of antigenic material into the cannulated lymph nodes was always followed by an acute but transient fall in lymphocyte output in the efferent lymph – a phenomenon known as cell shutdown which is usually accompanied by lymph node hypertrophy<sup>157,158,160</sup>. Several important players have been implicated in the coordination of lymph node hypertrophy. Type I IFNs ( $\alpha/\beta$ ) were shown to directly sequester both B and T cells in the lymphoid organs leading to blood lymphopenia during Vesicular stomatitis virus infection in mice<sup>162</sup>. Lymphocyte egress from the lymphoid organs requires the sphingosine 1 phosphate receptor 1 (S1PR1) and a sphingosine 1 phosphate (S1P) gradient<sup>152,163–165</sup>. A study by Shiow and colleagues showed that IFN $\alpha/\beta$ 

inhibits lymphocyte responsiveness to the S1P gradient by the rapid induction of CD69, which forms a complex with and negatively regulates the S1PR1. Furthermore, the authors demonstrated that CD69<sup>-/-</sup> cells are poorly retained within the lymphoid organs after infection or TLR stimulation. This study thus established that CD69 acts downstream of IFNa/B to inhibit the S1PR1-mediated lymphocyte egress from the lymphoid organs<sup>166</sup>. Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) induces hypertrophy of the draining lymph nodes during bacteria infection<sup>161</sup>. TNFa is required for the efficient maturation and migration of local DCs to activate adaptive immune responses during viral infections<sup>167</sup>. In line with this, the tumour necrosis factor superfamily member 14 (TNFSF14 or LIGHT), a secreted protein of the TNF family, was shown to enhance lymph node hypertrophy by promoting the migration of DCs and the influx of lymphocytes into the draining lymph nodes but not cell egress after immunisation with a strong adjuvant<sup>168</sup>. In contrast to the studies above, Schulz et al reported that the hypertrophy of the Salmonella-infected PPs is independent of type I IFN, TNFa, and CD69<sup>159</sup>. This matched our findings (discussed in detail in paper 2) that the hypertrophy of mLNs upon oral Rotavirus infection is independent of type I IFN and  $TNF\alpha^{169}$ .

Other mechanisms implicated in driving hypertrophy of the lymph nodes include signaling via the  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptors ( $\beta$ 2-AR). The expression of  $\beta$ 2-AR by lymphocytes was reported to control lymphocyte egress from the lymph nodes. Nakai et al demonstrated that agonist stimulation of  $\beta$ 2-AR on lymphocytes inhibits their egress from the lymph nodes causing rapid lymphopenia in blood. The authors showed that  $\beta$ 2-AR physically interacts with CCR7 and CXCR4 and enhances or strengthens these retention-promoting signals thus inhibiting lymphocyte egress leading to hypertrophy of the lymph nodes<sup>170</sup>.

Different studies have established that halted lymphocyte egress from the responding lymphoid organs is the major driver for lymphoid organ hypertrophy<sup>159,169,171</sup>. For many decades now, lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs has been attributed to the IFNAR/CD69/S1PR1 axis. This does not seem to be the case for the global cell shutdown seen in the context of localised infections at the intestinal mucosa<sup>159,169</sup>. To reconcile their findings with the proposed role for the IFNAR/CD69/S1PR1 axis in lymphocyte egress from the lymphoid organs, Schulz and colleagues hypothesized that two distinct mechanisms of lymphocyte retention must exist, which differ in their requirement of CD69. Indeed, Ag-specific  $CD69^{+/+}$  cells were efficiently retained in the PPs compared to  $CD69^{-/-}$  cells. These results thus suggested that the CD69-dependent retention mechanisms require Agspecific lymphocyte activation, whereas other cells within the same compartment remain unaffected<sup>159</sup>. However, to better understand the physiological consequences of infection-induced lymphoid organ hypertrophy, further mechanistic investigations are needed.

## 3. Rotavirus

Rotaviruses were first discovered in humans in 1973 by electron microscopy of duodenal biopsy samples from children suffering from acute severe diarrhoea. The name was adapted from the Latin word '*rota*' (wheel) and was assigned to the newly discovered virus because of its distinct morphological appearance<sup>172</sup>. Rotavirus (RV) is classified as a genus within the Reoviridae family. The virion has a non-enveloped triple-layered protein capsid surrounding a genome composed of 11 segments of dsRNA. The RNA segments encode six structural viral proteins (VP 1,2,3,4,6, and 7) (**Figure 4**) and six non-structural proteins (NSP 1,2,3,4,5, and 6). The RV genus is divided into five serological groups (A - E). All groups infect animals, only groups A - C infect humans. RV group A causes more than 90% of the infections in humans<sup>172–176</sup>.

Rotaviruses are the leading cause of acute, severe, dehydrating gastroenteritis in children under 5 years of age globally with an estimated >25 million outpatient visits and >2 million hospitalisations annually<sup>177</sup>. Within the first year of life, three quarters of the children in the developing countries of Africa and Asia acquire their first RV episode but this is delayed in the developed countries until 2 - 5 years of age<sup>177</sup>. Virtually every child will have been infected with RV between 2 and 3 years of age regardless of the social-economic status. Although child-RV infections occur in every country, over 90% of the deaths occur in low-income countries<sup>178–180</sup>.



**Figure 4. The Rotavirion triple layered particle.** The Rotavirion consists of a non-enveloped triple layered capsid, which surrounds 11 segments of dsRNA. The genome encodes six structural viral proteins (VP 1,2,3,4,6, and 7) and six non-structural proteins (NSP 1,2,3,4,5, and 6). *Figure created using BioRender.com* 

#### **Global burden**

The primary RV infection accounts for most of the clinical significance as the severity of the disease decreases with each re-infection. In 2004, 527,000 (475000 - 580000) RV-associated deaths were registered<sup>177</sup>. According to a study conducted by Tate and colleagues in 2013, the proportion of diarrheal deaths due to RV slightly decreased from 43% to 37% over the 14-year study period from 2000 to 2013<sup>180</sup>. RV alone resulted in 215,000 diarrheal deaths in children <5 years in the year 2013. The largest number of RV deaths occurred in sub-Saharan Africa, where the number ranged from 250,000 (range, 217000 - 282000) deaths in 2000 to 121,000 (range, 111000 - 131000) deaths in 2013<sup>180</sup>. In 2015, RV was still reported as the leading cause of diarrhoea deaths in children <5 years globally (199000, 95% uncertainty interval (UI) 165000 – 241000). Nearly 23% of RV deaths occurred in people older than 5 years  $(52,697 \text{ deaths}, 47400 - 57700)^{178}$ . As of 2016, a study conducted by Troeger et al showed that RV still resulted in 128,500 deaths (95% UI, 104500 -155600) among children under 5 years worldwide and was responsible for >258 million episodes of diarrhoea among children <5 years old (95% UI, 193 million to 341 million)<sup>179</sup>.

#### Transmission

RV has a short incubation period of 1 to 3 days and it is rapidly shed in the stools and vomitus of the infected individuals. The virus is mainly transmitted via the fecal-oral route directly from person-person, or indirectly via contaminated food, water, and other environmental surfaces. RV is very stable and can survive for days to weeks on contaminated fomites. In tropical regions, the RV infections may occur throughout the year whereas the infections usually peak during winter in the temperate climates. While a very low number of infectious particles is required to cause infection, RV-infected children have been reported to excrete about 100 billion virus particles per gram of stool<sup>177,181–184</sup>.

#### Rotavirus entry and detection by host cells

RV primarily infects and replicates in the mature, non-dividing epithelial cells at the tip of the small intestinal villi<sup>173,174,185</sup>. The infectious rota virion is a triple-layered particle (TLP) that attaches to the host cells via the capsid protein VP4. First, the VP4 protein is proteolytically cleaved by trypsin-like proteases into VP5 and VP8 subunits. Attachment is then mediated by VP8 which interacts with binding partners on the host cell surface (mainly the enterocytes), including sialoglycans (such as gangliosides GM1 and GD1a), histo-blood group antigens (HBGAs), integrins ( $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 4\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha v\beta$ , and  $\alpha x\beta 2$ ) and the heat shock cognate protein (hsc70)<sup>175,176,184,186,187,188</sup> Following attachment of the RV to the host cellular

receptors, the TLPs are internalized into the cytoplasm by receptor-mediated endocytosis. Upon cellular uptake, RV replication and assembly occurs in the cytoplasmic viroplasm, and the newly produced RVs are released from the infected host cells through cell lysis or Golgi-independent non-classical vesicular transport<sup>175,176,188</sup>.

Upon entry into the host, RV is recognized by PRRs in the enterocytes or immune cells (macrophages, DCs, or B cells). The PRRs include RA-inducible gene 1 (RIG-I)–like receptors, TLR3, and the melanoma differentiation–associated protein-5 receptors (MDA5). TLR3 and MDA5 both recognise dsRNA. TLR3 has been reported to have a role in the age-dependent resistance to RV infection in mice<sup>189</sup> and signaling via MDA5 in the RV-infected enterocytes is required for induction of IFN- $\beta$  production thus restricting RV replication<sup>190</sup>.

#### **Immunity against Rotavirus**

RV infection induces both innate and adaptive immune responses. RV primarily targets the IECs. Following RV infection of the IEC, the innate immune system is rapidly triggered to suppress RV replication and provide an antiviral state<sup>191,192</sup>. A study in both suckling and adult mice deficient of the IFN  $\lambda$  receptor in IEC showed that those mice were highly susceptible to oral RV infection, demonstrating a critical role for type III IFNs in the IEC anti-RV host defence<sup>193</sup>. In line with this, Jian Da Lin et al showed that both type I IFN and type III IFN are not only required for the optimal anti-RV protection of the GI tract in suckling mice, but independently, both IFN types contribute to the innate anti-RV defences in the intestinal mucosa and cooperate to restrict the extra-intestinal RV replication in other tissues<sup>194</sup>. Furthermore, Hernández et al demonstrated a synergistic cooperation between ILC3-derived IL-22 and IEC-derived IFN  $\lambda$  for activation of STAT1 which is required for optimal transcription of interferon-stimulated genes (ISG) and for restricting RV replication<sup>195</sup>. However, the RV NSP1 has been shown to antagonise the anti-RV innate immune responses by targeting the interferon regulatory factors (IRF) 3, 5 and 7 for degradation thus inhibiting the interferon-mediated STAT1 activation<sup>109,196–199</sup>. Although the innate anti-RV immunity is important, efficient RV clearance and protection from re-infection are mediated by the adaptive immune responses.

In the late 1980's, passive transfer experiments showed that RV-specific antibodies can protect neonatal mice against RV-induced diarrhoea<sup>200,201</sup>. Blutt et al demonstrated a critical role for IgA in the establishment of anti-RV immunity<sup>202</sup>. IgA<sup>-/-</sup> mice on both the BALB/c and C57BL/6 background failed to develop protective immunity against multiple RV re-exposures<sup>202</sup>. Intestinal RV-specific IgA is the major correlate of protection from re-infection against the natural RV infection<sup>203,204</sup>. The anti-RV IgA response is heavily dependent on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help<sup>47,205,206</sup>. As opposed to mucosal protection, the clearance of primary RV

infection is mainly mediated by cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin<sup>-/-</sup> mice, that lack the MHC class I-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, were significantly delayed in clearing the initial RV infection, just as the nude mice (deficient of all T cells) and the  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta$  TCR<sup>-/-</sup> mice<sup>205–207</sup>.

#### **Rotavirus vaccines**

The World Health Organisation (WHO) considers vaccination to be the best strategy to decrease the disease burden of RV. Vaccine efforts were thus focused on the development of a live attenuated RV strain of human and/or animal origin that can replicate in the human gut<sup>177</sup>. In 1998, the first RV vaccine (RotaShield<sup>®</sup>, Wyeth Lederle) a rhesus-human reassortant tetravalent was licenced in the United States of America. However, in less than a year, the manufacturer withdrew the vaccine from the market following reports of excess intussusception (intestinal blockage) in infants within a period of two weeks after vaccination<sup>208</sup>. Subsequently, two oral RV vaccines were developed; RotaTeg<sup>™</sup>, a pentavalent bovine-human reassortant that had 74% (95% CI: 67 - 79) efficacy against RV gastroenteritis of any severity and 98% (95% CI: 90 - 100) efficacy against severe gastroenteritis in all the clinical phase trials<sup>177,209</sup> and Rotarix<sup>TM</sup>, a monovalent human RV vaccine had 87% (95% CI: 80 - 92) protection against any and 96% (95% CI: 90 - 99) protection against severe gastroenteritis in all the clinical phase trials<sup>177,210</sup>. Rotarix<sup>TM</sup> is administered to children at 2 and 4 months of age and RotaTeq<sup>™</sup> is administered at 2, 4 and 6 months of age. In 2009, the WHO strongly recommended the inclusion of RV vaccines into the nationwide immunisation programmes in all countries<sup>174,177</sup>.

A study by Burnett et al following the global impact of RV vaccination on childhood hospitalisations and mortality from diarrhoea during the first 10 years after the introduction of the RV vaccines into the national immunisation schedule in 57 countries, observed a reduction in the disease burden of RV in these countries<sup>211</sup>. The RV disease-associated hospitalisations decreased by a median of 67% (with a range of 18 - 84%)<sup>211</sup>. The RV vaccines have low efficacy in the developing countries of Africa and Asia<sup>212-214</sup>, but a recent study on the impact of RV vaccine in sub-Saharan Africa observed that the introduction of the RV vaccines was partly responsible for the significant reduction in the burden of RV-associated diarrhoea. The proportion of RV-positive cases significantly reduced from 42% (95% CI: 38 -46) pre-vaccination period to 21% (95% CI: 17 - 25) post-vaccination<sup>215</sup>. The introduction of the RV vaccine in South Korea was also reported to decrease the nation's economic burden from \$17.3 million in 2009 to \$9.6 million 2012<sup>216</sup>. Finally, using a decision-analytic model to strongly support the WHO recommendation for the introduction of the RV vaccines in countries with high <5 mortality rates and limited health resources. Atherly and colleagues estimated that RV vaccination would prevent 2.46 million childhood deaths and 83 million

disability-adjusted life years from 2011 to 2030, with annual reductions of 180,000 childhood deaths at peak vaccine uptake<sup>217</sup>.

#### **Rotavirus and autoimmunity**

Autoimmunity develops because of a break in tolerance to self Ags by the host's immune system. Sex, age, genetics, immune regulation, and environmental factors contribute to the development of autoimmune responses. Viruses and bacteria are considered to be the main environmental triggers and mechanisms that include molecular mimicry, bystander activation, epitope spreading and cryptic Ags have been proposed to explain the breakdown of self-tolerance by pathogens<sup>218,219</sup>. Over the last few years, the role of RV infections as potential triggers for autoimmune diseases has been a focus of interest with special attention paid to celiac disease and type 1 diabetes (T1D)<sup>220–222</sup>.

A high frequency of RV infections was reported to positively correlate with the increased risk of celiac disease in genetically predisposed individuals<sup>223,224</sup>. In addition, vaccination against the RV infection prevented/reduced the prevalence of celiac disease in children<sup>221,222</sup>. Studies in animals and humans have shown that RV infections trigger T1D through molecular mimicry to the Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase (GAD) and tyrosine phosphate IA-2 Ags<sup>219,225,226</sup>. Studies in Finland, which has the highest incidence of T1D worldwide, showed that vaccination against RV does not significantly affect the onset, increase or decrease of T1D in children and adoloscents<sup>221,222</sup>. However, these findings were not corroborated in a recent study by Rogers et al that showed that RV vaccination reduced the incidence of T1D in children aged 0 - 4 years in the United States of America between 2001 - 2017<sup>227</sup>.

Alterations in the intestinal microbiome composition are greatly implicated in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). In a study using the metagenomic DNA sequencing of fecal samples obtained from IBD patients (both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis), Norman et al. observed an abnormal enteric virome in these patients compared to the healthy controls – a contributing factor to the incidence of IBD<sup>228</sup>. Signaling via the mitochondrial antiviral protein (MAVs) was shown to protect mice from experimental colitis<sup>229</sup>. In agreement with these observations, a study by Yang and colleagues showed that mice administered with inactivated RV were protected from colitis while the pre-treatment of mice with antivirals resulted in severe colitis<sup>230</sup>.

In summary, different studies have documented a potential role of RV vaccination and/or infection in affecting the prevalence and/or incidence of autoimmune diseases and IBD, but further mechanistic investigations are still required in this field.

# Present investigation

## Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis work was to investigate the requirements as well as the location for the induction of optimal adaptive immune responses towards the enteric oral primary Rotavirus infection.

Specifically, the aims of the included studies were:

- I. To investigate the cellular and molecular requirements for the induction of optimal Rotavirus-specific IgA antibody responses during primary Rotavirus infection.
- II. To investigate the location and the role of various mediators in driving lymphoid organ hypertrophy in the context of oral Rotavirus infection in adult mice
- III. To assess the impact of retinoic acid signaling on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell development, phenotype, and function
- IV. To investigate the molecular requirements and differences between cDC1 and cDC2 activation and migration from the SiLP to the mLNs in response to the TLR3 agonist, poly(I:C)

# Summary and discussion of the papers

## Paper 1

# αvβ8 integrin-expression by BATF3-dependent dendritic cells facilitates early IgA responses to Rotavirus

Intestinal RV-specific secretory IgA is the major correlate for long-term protection against natural RV infection. IgA can be generated by TD and TI pathways, both facilitated by intestinal cDC and the cytokine TGF $\beta$ . The role of cDC in facilitating the induction of steady-state IgA against the commensal microbes has been studied, but very little is known about the mechanisms that induce IgA during intestinal viral infections and the division of labour between the different cDC subsets for the induction of B cell responses. The aim of this study was therefore to investigate the cellular and molecular requirements for the induction of optimal RV-specific IgA antibody responses during primary RV infection.

#### Key findings

- Batf3-dependent cDC1 but not cDC2 are required for the optimal induction of anti-RV-specific IgA responses in the mLNs.
- Generation of IgA<sup>+</sup> B cell responses in the mLNs requires CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells but not CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.
- Signaling via the type I interferon receptor either on all dendritic cells or specifically on cDC1 is dispensable for the induction of B cell responses during RV infection.
- β8 expression is preferentially confined to the migratory cDC1 in the mLNs and this expression pattern is conserved during RV infection.
- $\circ$   $\alpha\nu\beta8$  integrin expression by the cDC1 is dispensable for the generation of steady-state mucosal immune responses but is essential for the optimal induction of RV-specific IgA responses.

#### Discussion

In this study, we show for the first time that cDC1 facilitate the generation of IgA<sup>+</sup> B cell responses during primary RV infection while cDC2 are dispensable. These data further suggest that IgA class switching is not restricted to the cDC2 compartment as has been previously discussed<sup>17,59</sup> but rather depends on the context and nature of the Ag. We also observed that the mLNs are the major inductive site for the initiation of RV-specific IgA immune responses. This is in agreement with other studies by Li et al<sup>231</sup> and is discussed in more detail in paper 2 in this thesis. RV primarily infects the villus ECs of the small intestine and cDC1 have a unique ability of presenting epithelial-derived Ags to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the mLNs<sup>29</sup>. Analysis of cDC1-deficient *Batf3<sup>KO</sup>* mice confirmed that optimal anti-RV specific IgA responses depend on the presence of cDC1 in the mLNs, which correlated with a marked delay of secretory RV-specific IgA increases in the fecal samples of these mice.

Furthermore, we explored the various mechanisms involved in the cDC1 induction of optimal anti-RV specific IgA responses in the mLNs. Even though cDC can facilitate IgA production via both TD and TI pathways<sup>122,232</sup>, we found that deletion of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells severely ablated both the total and RV-specific IgA cells in the mLNs. In contrast, the deletion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells did not affect the B cell response. These results further confirmed that the IgA anti-RV response heavily depends on T cell help<sup>47,205,206</sup> and that the decreased CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses seen in the absence of cDC1 have no secondary effect on the IgA class switching in this model. Using CD11c.cre - and XCR1.cre -IFNAR<sup>flox</sup> mice, we found that signaling via the type I IFN receptor on either all cDCs or only cDC1 was dispensable for the induction of anti-RV IgA immune responses in the mLNs and RV clearance in mice. While previous evidence demonstrated that stimulation of DCs with type I IFNs enhances humoral immunity<sup>233</sup>, type I IFN does not seem to exert its effects through cDCs in our model. Similar results were previously observed in the case of Norovirus, another enteric viral infection<sup>234</sup>.

IgA CSR requires the TGF $\beta$  cytokine<sup>235,236</sup>. In this study, we generated a novel tdTomato fluorescent  $\beta$ 8 reporter mouse model to assess the expression of the TGF $\beta$ -activating  $\alpha\nu\beta$ 8 integrin by cDCs. Analysis of the cDC subsets in these mice confirmed that the  $\beta$ 8-expression is confined to the migratory cDC1 in the mLNs. This expression pattern was conserved during RV infection. Interestingly, deletion of the integrin only in cDC1 significantly reduced the total and RV-specific IgA plasmablast numbers in the mLNs during RV infection but had no effects on the steady-state intestinal immune homeostasis.

Taken together, these results show that BATF3-dependent cDC1 are essential for the induction of optimal TD-anti-RV IgA immune responses in the mLNs during the primary RV infection in adult mice.

## Paper 2

#### Rotavirus infection causes mesenteric lymph node hypertrophy independently of type I interferon or TNFα in mice

Lymphoid organ hypertrophy is a central component of immune responses to inflammation and local infection. It is associated with alterations in lymphocyte circulation between the blood and the secondary lymphoid organs and is essential for the efficient induction of adaptive immune responses<sup>155,159,160,237,238</sup>. However, the mechanisms involved in driving the accumulation of lymphocytes in various lymphoid organs during inflammation and/or infection are still poorly defined. In this study, we sought to investigate the location and the role of various mediators in driving lymphoid organ hypertrophy in the context of oral Rotavirus infection of the intestine in adult mice.

#### Key findings

- The RV infection-induced hypertrophy is primarily confined to the mLNs and results from the accumulation of all major lymphocyte populations.
- Lymphocyte accumulation during RV infection in the mLNs does not require Ag-specific activation.
- RV-induced mLN hypertrophy is a consequence of both increased lymphocyte recruitment and their enhanced retention within the mLNs without substantial local lymphocyte proliferation.
- $\circ$  The enhanced lymphocyte sequestration in the mLNs in response to RV is independent of type I IFN and TNF $\alpha$ .

#### Discussion

Prior to the start of this work, we<sup>47</sup> (paper 1) and others<sup>239</sup> had shown that oral RV infection induces a transient ~3-fold increase of B lymphocytes in the mLNs of adult mice. As a follow-up study, we used C57BL/6 mice to analyse the location and kinetics of the hypertrophy of lymphoid organs following oral RV infection of the intestine. We confirmed that RV-induced hypertrophy was confined to the gut draining mLNs with a very small effect in the PPs and no response in the more distal lymphoid tissues including the spleen. Further analysis of the lymphocyte populations revealed that all major populations efficiently accumulated (both naïve and Ag-experienced/effector cells) in the mLNs following oral RV infection.

Lymphoid organ hypertrophy can result from increased recruitment of naïve lymphocytes into the organ, from robust activated-lymphocyte proliferation within the organ, or from the halted egress of the lymphocytes from the lymphoid organ<sup>166,171,237,240–242</sup>. Here, using congenically labelled wildtype mice, we found that RV infection leads to increased retention and recruitment of lymphocytes into the mLNs without proliferation of the activated Ag-specific lymphocytes substantially contributing to the overall mLN cellularity. These results are in part in agreement with a study by Schulz et al. that reported that PPs hypertrophy upon *Salmonella* infection was primarily due to lymphocyte retention, while proliferation and recruitment were not contributing to the PPs cellularity to a measurable extent<sup>159</sup>.

In this study, we also demonstrated that lymphocyte sequestration within the mLNs during RV infection is independent of the IFNAR-CD69-S1PR1 pathway. Engagement of the Ag-receptor on lymphocytes leads to the downregulation of S1PR1/3<sup>243</sup>. Analysis of RV-infected SW<sub>HEL</sub> mice (a B-cell receptor-specific mouse model that contains B cells specific for hen egg lysozyme) revealed that Ag-specific recognition is dispensable for B cell accumulation in the mLNs. Further, RV-induced mLN hypertrophy did not require signaling via the IFNAR despite an observed reduction of CD69 expression by the lymphocytes in IFNAR-deficient mice. TNF $\alpha$  and signaling via the TNF receptors1/2 were also dispensable for the hypertrophy of mLNs during RV infection.

Collectively, these results show that lymphoid organ hypertrophy in the context of oral RV infection is primarily confined to the mLNs and that Ag-specific recognition, type I IFN and TNF $\alpha$  are not required to coordinate the events involved in the mLN response.

## Paper 3

# Retinoic acid signaling affects thymic and peripheral CD8 T cell phenotype and function

Retinoic acid (RA), a vitamin A metabolite, has been shown to play a role in controlling T cell responses in the periphery, for example by increasing the generation of peripheral FoxP3<sup>+</sup>Tregs<sup>145,244</sup> as well as the differentiation and lineage stability of CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells<sup>245</sup> and the induction of gut-homing receptors on T and B cells<sup>141,143,144</sup>. Its role in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell development is however poorly defined. We used *CD4Cre.dnRAR<sup>lsl/lsl</sup>* mice, in which RA signaling in developing thymocytes and peripheral T cells is abrogated to assess the impact of RA signaling on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell development, phenotype, and function. As a relevant in vivo readout, we assessed the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response to intestinal RV infection.

#### Key findings

- The absence of RA signaling in developing thymocytes leads to perturbed thymopoiesis.
- RA signaling-impaired naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells display enhanced survival and expansion upon TCR stimulation.
- RA signaling regulates gene expression of key effector genes in a similar manner in splenic and mLN primed CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells.
- $\circ$  RA signaling is required for the cytotoxic activity of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

#### Discussion

Phenotypic analysis of the developing thymocytes revealed that T cell development in CD4Cre.dnRAR<sup>lsl/lsl</sup> mice was skewed towards more CD8SP thymocytes and that the majority of these cells were of a CD24<sup>lo</sup>CD62L<sup>hi</sup> mature phenotype<sup>246</sup>. Furthermore, these CD24<sup>lo</sup>CD62L<sup>hi</sup> CD8SP cells displayed a CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD122<sup>hi</sup> phenotype that was earlier described for cells described as "virtual memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells"<sup>247</sup>. A study by Miller et al showed that the transcription factor EOMES was upregulated in CD8-memory phenotype T cell precursors during their maturation in the thymus<sup>247</sup>. In line with this, EOMES-expressing cells were substantially the CD24<sup>lo</sup>CD62L<sup>hi</sup> CD8SP enriched within compartment of the CD4Cre.dnRAR<sup>lsl/lsl</sup> mice. Further, we found that abrogated RA signaling in peripheral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells led to reduced gene expression of key effector genes such as several granzyme family members (GZMA, GZMB and GZMK). Indeed, the

cytotoxic activity was significantly reduced in the  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{lsl/lsl}$  mice immunized with OVA peptide. Finally, to assess the role of RA signaling in the generation of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the context of a natural enteric virus,  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{lsl/lsl}$  mice were orally infected with RV. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells mediate clearance of the primary RV infection<sup>206,207</sup>. Despite the similar numbers of RVspecific tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells in the mLNs,  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{lsl/lsl}$  mice had significantly lower numbers of RV-specific tetramer<sup>+</sup> cells in small intestinal epithelium and lamina propria. This was expected based on the known role of RA to induce guthoming receptors on effector lymphocytes in the mLNs. Importantly, CD8<sup>+</sup> effector cells in the mLNs of  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{lsl/lsl}$  mice showed reduced expression of granzyme A (GzmA) suggesting that the impaired cytotoxic activity of the effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the absence of RA is likely due to impaired production of granzymes. As expected, the  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{lsl/lsl}$  mice showed delayed clearance of the virus compared to the wildtypes.

Collectively, these results show RA plays a role in CD8SP thymocyte homeostasis in the thymus and in the acquisition of cytotoxic activity by the peripheral  $CD8^+ T$  cells through effector gene regulation.

## Paper 4

# Migration of murine intestinal dendritic cell subsets upon intrinsic and extrinsic TLR3 stimulation

One hallmark of intestinal cDC function is their ability to migrate from the SiLP to the draining mLNs in response to stimulation via PRR, where they induce adaptive immune responses. Intestinal cDC subsets differ in their expression of different PRR, for example, TLR3 is specifically expressed by cDC1 while cDC2 uniquely express TLR5<sup>90,248</sup>. This suggests that cDC subsets can recognise different Ags, thus fulfilling different immune functions, possibly allowing for cDC subset-specific targeting in vaccination. Hence, we sought to investigate the molecular requirements and differences between cDC1 and cDC2 activation and migration from the SiLP to the mLNs in response to the TLR3 agonist, poly(I:C).

#### Key findings

- Poly(I:C)-induced intestinal cDC migration depends on TLR3 signaling.
- Cell-intrinsic TLR3-sensing is dispensable for cDC migration.
- cDC migration in response to poly(I:C) is independent of MyD88 but requires TNF-receptor signaling.
- cDC subsets differ in type I IFN signaling requirements in response to poly(I:C).

#### Discussion

In this study, we analysed the molecular requirements for the activation and migration of intestinal cDC subsets in response to poly(I:C), a synthetic analog of dsRNA. Poly(I:C) is a good model for studying enteric viral infections since it mimics dsRNA viruses such as RV. We found that poly(I:C) induced activation and migration of both cDC1 and cDC2 from the SiLP to the mLNs in a strictly TLR3-dependent manner despite cDC2 expressing virtually no TLR3 themselves. Poly(I:C) induced upregulated expression of type I interferons and TNF $\alpha$  in the SiLP. Examination of the role of these cytokines in poly(I:C)-induced cDC migration revealed that migration of both cDC1 and cDC2 was dependent on TNF $\alpha$  while type I interferon signaling induced activation and migration was more essential for cDC1 as compared to cDC2. Taken together, our findings reveal common and differing pathways in regulating cDC subset migration in response to poly(I:C), a TLR3-targeting adjuvant.

# Acknowledgements

'*It takes a village to raise a child*' – this is especially true for me, and what an adventurous journey I have been on! From Kampala, Uganda to Lund, Sweden. I am filled with gratitude for all the people who have helped me get to this place, but most importantly, I am grateful to the Almighty God whose grace has sufficiently carried me thus far.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my amazing supervisor, **Katharina Lahl**. You took me on as a master's student and later gave me a PhD position. Your great scientific insight, your deep level of commitment, understanding, and positivity are a great source of inspiration. Thank you for introducing me to the world of mucosal immunology and for being patient with me, as you mentored me into the scientist I am today. Thank you for believing in me and always pushing me out of my comfort zone. You helped me grow my own wings and taught me how to fly to heights I never imagined.

PS: This is not the end of our journey, once my mentor always my mentor. I will still be in your inbox in the years ahead  $\bigcirc$ .

**William Agace**, my co-supervisor, thank you for your immense support throughout the years. I also never thanked you for forwarding the email I sent you in 2015 to Katha (it is the reason I am in this place). **Bengt Johansson**, thank you for all the help with my B cell questions and for being such a great opponent, twice.

Special thanks to members of my research group: **Konjit Getachew**, my dearest friend and officemate. Thank you for all that you have been to me – the best really. I could not have asked for more. We have been each other's support system through all the highs and lows that come with being a PhD student. You are such a great lab partner, and I am grateful that I got to do this with you dear. **Kedir Hamza**, you are the calm in a storm. Thank you for your kindness and support throughout the years. Thank you for filling up your office drawer with all kinds of sweets and candies. You made my days in the lab great. **Getachew Melkamu**, thank you for all your help in the lab especially with genotyping. **Daniel Sorobetea**, thank you for all that you taught and helped me with during your short time in the lab.

Members of Katha's lab at the Technical University of Denmark (DTU) especially **Katrine Thomsen** and **Isabel Ulmert**, crossing the Oresund bridge for experiments was not fun, but you helped make my days lighter and worthwhile.

Helena Paidasi's lab in Lyon, France thank you for a great collaboration on my first project.

I would also like to thank several current and previous members of the WA group for all the constructive discussions and feedback during our weekly lab meetings. Kasia Luda, my dearest friend, you are such a sweetheart. Thank you for taking care of me the first months at the immunology section. You joyfully taught me everything. You have promised to visit me in Uganda, and I hope that will happen sooner rather than later (I have also documented it in my thesis). Knut Kotarsky, thank you for being so kind, patient, and very helpful. You are the one person I never hesitated to approach even when in 'deep trouble'. Thank you for not telling Bill when I mistakenly killed off an entire mouse line and for fixing that mess on my behalf. I shall never forget you Knut dear. Thorsten Joeris, you are hands down a great scientist, thank you for selflessly extending your help to everyone in the lab. Clément Da Silva (meaning from the jungle), you are a unique kind of human being in every way. Thank you for all the pranks you played on me during our time in the lab (I am still plotting how to return the favour and I am sure you are indeed from the jungle). Kerstin Wendland, thank you for being so loving and for paper 3. Fatemeh Ahmadi, thank you for the love and always having snacks in your office.

All **members of the Immunology Section**, thank you for providing a healthy and fun working environment where everyone is given enough room to grow. It has been a great 5 years with you. Special thanks to my dearest **Gudrun Kjellander**, you are such a darling and I am especially grateful that our paths crossed.

Special thanks to all the Animal houses staff at the Malmö barrier facility, the Conventional, and Infection facilities in Lund. Thank you for taking care of the lab animals and ensuring that our research carries on successfully.

**Carolyne Kako**, what can I say? I am very grateful for your friendship and the many trips we made just to spend time together to pray and encourage each other. **Daniel Ddiba**, my dearest cousin, we made the journey to Sweden together and you have been the best big brother. I am very grateful for you and your darling wife. **Simona Solomon**, you were the best housemate for 5 years, thank you for having my back in ways only a sweet friend as you could. **Ashmita Jagannath**, you are such a sweetheart, thank you for making my dreams come true on November 6<sup>th</sup>, 2020. **Manar Alyamani**, thank you for being you, dear. **Diana** and **Katie**, thank you for making life in Lund lively and fun in so many ways that when you both eventually moved it was never the same again for me. My dearest sister from another father & mother, **Annet Nalunkuuma**, nkwagala nyoo mukwano.

Light Embassy Ministries, thank you for all the spiritual growth, prayers, and great fellowships. Special thanks to Apostle Alex Agyemang, thank you for being a good shepherd. Benedict Asamoah, you are such a great brother, and thank you for your

big heart. Charity & Alberta, I love & appreciate you and our sisterhood, oh and thank you for the jollof rice too  $\bigcirc$ .

Finally, I am most grateful to my family. **Daddy**, you are the heartbeat of my academic journey, you have been there for me since day one. You wear the title of a father and dad like your favourite jersey. Words fail me, but I love you so much and I am proud and blessed to be your daughter. My **sweet mama**, you are my bright shining star, you are clothed with strength and dignity. Thank you for being the strongest pillar in my life. Many women do noble things, but you, my mama, surpass them all and I love you so much. **Sandra**, my little one, my glass of happiness & laughter, my good luck charm, and the reason for the sparkle in my eyes. You are God's greatest gift to me darling and I love you deep (deeper than deep). Thank you for all that you are to me and for taking care of our parents all these years I have been away (although we both know that they have taken the most care for you instead **(c)**).



Then Samuel took a stone and set it up between Mizpah and Shen, and called its name **Ebenezer**, saying, **"Thus far the LORD has helped us."** 1 Samuel 7:12.

# Great is THY faithfullness.

## References

- 1. Mowat, A. M. & Agace, W. W. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **14**, 667–685 (2014).
- Ahluwalia, B., Magnusson, M. K. & Öhman, L. Mucosal immune system of the gastrointestinal tract: maintaining balance between the good and the bad. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 52, 1185–1193 (2017).
- 3. Saps, M. & Miranda, A. *Gastrointestinal pharmacology*. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* **239**, (2017).
- 4. Agace, W. W. & McCoy, K. D. Regionalized Development and Maintenance of the Intestinal Adaptive Immune Landscape. *Immunity* **46**, 532–548 (2017).
- 5. Peterson, L. W. & Artis, D. Intestinal epithelial cells: Regulators of barrier function and immune homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 141–153 (2014).
- 6. Helander, H. F. & Fändriks, L. Surface area of the digestive tract-revisited. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* **49**, 681–689 (2014).
- Bx PHILIP B . CARTER AND FRANK M . COLLINS (From the Trudeau Institute , Inc., Saranac Lake, New York 12983) (Received for publication 31 January 1974) ) The inability of Salmonella typhi to induce a progressive fatal infection in most laboratory anim. (1974).
- 8. Sixt, M. *et al.* The conduit system transports soluble antigens from the afferent lymph to resident dendritic cells in the T cell area of the lymph node. *Immunity* **22**, 19–29 (2005).
- Gerner, M. Y., Torabi-Parizi, P. & Germain, R. N. Strategically Localized Dendritic Cells Promote Rapid T Cell Responses to Lymph-Borne Particulate Antigens. *Immunity* 42, 172–185 (2015).
- Jang, M. H. *et al.* CCR7 Is Critically Important for Migration of Dendritic Cells in Intestinal Lamina Propria to Mesenteric Lymph Nodes. *J. Immunol.* 176, 803–810 (2006).
- 11. Willard-Mack, C. L. Normal Structure, Function, and Histology of Lymph Nodes. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **34**, 409–424 (2006).
- 12. Buettner, M. & Bode, U. Lymph node dissection understanding the immunological function of lymph nodes. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **169**, 205–212 (2012).
- 13. Cornes, J. S. Number, size, and distribution of Peyer's patches in the human small intestine: Part I The development of Peyer's patches. *Gut* **6**, 225–229 (1965).
- Kobayashi, N., Takahashi, D., Takano, S., Kimura, S. & Hase, K. The Roles of Peyer's Patches and Microfold Cells in the Gut Immune System: Relevance to Autoimmune Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10, 1–15 (2019).

- Mabbott, N. A., Donaldson, D. S., Ohno, H., Williams, I. R. & Mahajan, A. Microfold (M) cells: Important immunosurveillance posts in the intestinal epithelium. *Mucosal Immunol.* 6, 666–677 (2013).
- 16. Masahata, K. *et al.* Generation of colonic IgA-secreting cells in the caecal patch. *Nat. Commun.* **5**, 3704 (2014).
- 17. Reboldi, A. *et al.* IgA production requires B cell interaction with subepithelial dendritic cells in Peyer's patches. *Science* **352**, aaf4822 (2016).
- 18. Hamada, H. *et al.* Identification of Multiple Isolated Lymphoid Follicles on the Antimesenteric Wall of the Mouse Small Intestine. *J. Immunol.* **168**, 57–64 (2002).
- 19. Knoop, K. A. & Newberry, R. D. Isolated lymphoid follicles are dynamic reservoirs for the induction of intestinal IgA. *Front. Immunol.* **3**, 1–7 (2012).
- Tsuji, M. *et al.* Requirement for Lymphoid Tissue-Inducer Cells in Isolated Follicle Formation and T Cell-Independent Immunoglobulin A Generation in the Gut. *Immunity* 29, 261–271 (2008).
- 21. Steinman, R. M. & Cohn, Z. A. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice: I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. *J. Exp. Med.* **137**, 1142–1162 (1973).
- 22. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 2011 NobelPrize.org. Available at: https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/medicine/2011/summary/. (Accessed: 3rd February 2021)
- 23. Banchereau, J. et al. Mmunobiology of. 767-811 (2000).
- Onai, N., Obata-Onai, A., Tussiwand, R., Lanzavecchia, A. & Manz, M. G. Activation of the Flt3 signal transduction cascade rescues and enhances type I interferon-producing and dendritic cell development. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 227–238 (2006).
- Meredith, M. M. *et al.* Expression of the zinc finger transcription factor zDC (Zbtb46, Btbd4) defines the classical dendritic cell lineage. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 1153–1165 (2012).
- 26. Satpathy, A. T. *et al.* Zbtb46 expression distinguishes classical dendritic cells and their committed progenitors from other immune lineages. *J. Exp. Med.* **209**, 1135–1152 (2012).
- 27. Bogunovic, M. *et al.* Origin of the Lamina Propria Dendritic Cell Network. *Immunity* **31**, 513–525 (2009).
- 28. Cerovic, V. *et al.* Intestinal CD103- dendritic cells migrate in lymph and prime effector T cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* **6**, 104–113 (2013).
- Cerovic, V. *et al.* Lymph-borne CD8α+ dendritic cells are uniquely able to crossprime CD8+ T cells with antigen acquired from intestinal epithelial cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* 8, 38–48 (2015).
- 30. Huang, F. P. *et al.* A discrete subpopulation of dendritic cells transports apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells to T cell areas of mesenteric lymph nodes. *J. Exp. Med.* **191**, 435–443 (2000).
- 31. Worbs, T. *et al.* Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **203**, 519–527 (2006).

- 32. Schulz, O. *et al.* Intestinal CD103+, but not CX3CR1+, antigen sampling cells migrate in lymph and serve classical dendritic cell functions. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 3101–3114 (2009).
- 33. Joeris, T., Müller-Luda, K., Agace, W. W. & Mowat, A. M. I. Diversity and functions of intestinal mononuclear phagocytes. *Mucosal Immunol.* **10**, 845–864 (2017).
- Persson, E. K., Scott, C. L., Mowat, A. M. & Agace, W. W. Dendritic cell subsets in the intestinal lamina propria: Ontogeny and function. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 43, 3098– 3107 (2013).
- 35. Bekiaris, V., Persson, E. K. & Agace, W. W. Intestinal dendritic cells in the regulation of mucosal immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* **260**, 86–101 (2014).
- 36. Hildner, K. *et al.* Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* **322**, 1097–100 (2008).
- Jackson, J. T. *et al.* Id2 expression delineates differential checkpoints in the genetic program of CD8α+ and CD103+ dendritic cell lineages. *EMBO J.* 30, 2690–2704 (2011).
- 38. Luda, K. M. *et al.* IRF8 Transcription-Factor-Dependent Classical Dendritic Cells Are Essential for Intestinal T Cell Homeostasis. *Immunity* **44**, 860–74 (2016).
- Edelson, B. T. *et al.* Peripheral CD103+ dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8α+ conventional dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 823–836 (2010).
- Sichien, D., Lambrecht, B. N., Guilliams, M. & Scott, C. L. Development of conventional dendritic cells: From common bone marrow progenitors to multiple subsets in peripheral tissues. *Mucosal Immunol.* 10, 831–844 (2017).
- Grajales-Reyes, G. E. *et al.* Batf3 maintains autoactivation of Irf8 for commitment of a CD8α+ conventional DC clonogenic progenitor. *Nat. Immunol.* 16, 708–717 (2015).
- 42. Ohta, T. *et al.* Crucial roles of XCR1-expressing dendritic cells and the XCR1-XCL1 chemokine axis in intestinal immune homeostasis. *Sci. Rep.* **6**, (2016).
- Muzaki, A. R. B. M. *et al.* Intestinal CD103+ CD11b- dendritic cells restrain colitis via IFN-γ-induced anti-inflammatory response in epithelial cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* 9, 336–351 (2016).
- 44. Esterházy, D. *et al.* Classical dendritic cells are required for dietary antigen-mediated induction of peripheral T reg cells and tolerance. *Nat. Immunol.* **17**, 545–555 (2016).
- 45. Travis, M. A. *et al.* Loss of integrin alpha(v)beta8 on dendritic cells causes autoimmunity and colitis in mice. *Nature* **449**, 361–5 (2007).
- 46. Sun, T. *et al.* Intestinal Batf3 -dependent dendritic cells are required for optimal antiviral T-cell responses in adult and neonatal mice. *Mucosal Immunol.* **10**, 1–14 (2016).
- Nakawesi, J. *et al.* αvβ8 integrin-expression by BATF3-dependent dendritic cells facilitates early IgA responses to Rotavirus. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2020). doi:10.1038/s41385-020-0276-8

- 48. Persson, E. *et al.* IRF4 Transcription-Factor-Dependent CD103+CD11b+ Dendritic Cells Drive Mucosal T Helper 17 Cell Differentiation. *Immunity* **38**, 958–969 (2013).
- Schlitzer, A. *et al.* IRF4 Transcription Factor-Dependent CD11b+Dendritic Cells in Human and Mouse Control Mucosal IL-17 Cytokine Responses. *Immunity* 38, 970– 983 (2013).
- 50. Tussiwand, R. *et al.* Klf4 Expression in Conventional Dendritic Cells Is Required for T Helper 2 Cell Responses. *Immunity* **42**, 916–928 (2015).
- Ichikawa, E. *et al.* Defective development of splenic and epidermal CD4+ dendritic cells in mice deficient for IFN regulatory factor-2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101, 3909–3914 (2004).
- Satpathy, A. T. *et al.* Notch2-dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-and-effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat. Immunol.* 14, 937–48 (2013).
- 53. Welty, N. E. *et al.* Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cells maintain T cell homeostasis but do not affect commensalism. *J. Exp. Med.* **210**, 2011–24 (2013).
- 54. Wenzel, U. A., Jonstrand, C., Hansson, G. C. & Wick, M. J. CD103+CD11b+ dendritic cells induce Th17 T cells in Muc2-deficient mice with extensively spread colitis. *PLoS One* **10**, 1–17 (2015).
- 55. Mayer, J. U. *et al.* Different populations of CD11b+ dendritic cells drive Th2 responses in the small intestine and colon. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 1–12 (2017).
- 56. Kinnebrew, M. A. *et al.* Interleukin 23 Production by Intestinal CD103 +CD11b + Dendritic Cells in Response to Bacterial Flagellin Enhances Mucosal Innate Immune Defense. *Immunity* **36**, 276–287 (2012).
- 57. Tezuka, H. & Ohteki, T. Regulation of IgA production by intestinal dendritic cells and related cells. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, 1–15 (2019).
- 58. Tezuka, H. *et al.* Regulation of IgA production by naturally occurring TNF/iNOS-producing dendritic cells. *Nature* **448**, 929–933 (2007).
- 59. Flores-Langarica, A. *et al.* CD103 + CD11b + mucosal classical dendritic cells initiate long-term switched antibody responses to flagellin. *Mucosal Immunol.* **11**, 681–692 (2018).
- 60. Reis, C. Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross- priming to virus-infected cells. **433**, 887–892 (2005).
- 61. López, A. G. *et al.* Migration of murine intestinal dendritic cell subsets upon intrinsic and extrinsic TLR3 stimulation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* eji.201948497 (2020). doi:10.1002/eji.201948497
- Edwards, A. D. *et al.* Toll-like receptor expression in murine DC subsets: Lack of TLR7 expression of CD8α+ DC correlates with unresponsiveness to imidazoquinolines. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 827–833 (2003).
- 63. Caminschi, I. *et al.* The dendritic cell subtype-restricted C-type lectin Clec9A is a target for vaccine enhancement. *Blood* **112**, 3264–3273 (2008).
- 64. Huysamen, C., Willment, J. A., Dennehy, K. M. & Brown, G. D. CLEC9A is a novel activation C-type lectin-like receptor expressed on BDCA3+ dendritic cells and a subset of monocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **283**, 16693–16701 (2008).

- 65. Uematsu, S. *et al.* Detection of pathogenic intestinal bacteria by Toll-like receptor 5 on intestinal CD11c+ lamina propria cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **7**, 868–874 (2006).
- 66. M, R. *et al.* Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* **2**, 361–7 (2001).
- 67. Vallon-Eberhard, A., Landsman, L., Yogev, N., Verrier, B. & Jung, S. Transepithelial Pathogen Uptake into the Small Intestinal Lamina Propria. *J. Immunol.* **176**, 2465–2469 (2006).
- 68. Farache, J. et al. NIH Public Access. 38, 581–595 (2014).
- 69. Niess, J. H. *et al.* CX3CR1-mediated dendritic cell access to the intestinal lumen and bacterial clearance. *Science (80-. ).* **307**, 254–258 (2005).
- 70. Jang, M. H. *et al.* Intestinal villous M cells: An antigen entry site in the mucosal epithelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **101**, 6110–6115 (2004).
- 71. Jones, B. D., Ghori, N. & Falkow, S. Salmonella typhlrnurium initiates murine infection by penetrating and destroying the specialized epithelial M cells of the peyer's patches. *J. Exp. Med.* **180**, 15–23 (1994).
- 72. McDole, J. R. *et al.* Goblet cells deliver luminal anrigen to CD103+ DCs in the small intestine. *Nature* **483**, 345–349 (2012).
- 73. Knoop, K. A., McDonald, K. G., McCrate, S., McDole, J. R. & Newberry, R. D. Microbial sensing by goblet cells controls immune surveillance of luminal antigens in the colon. *Mucosal Immunol.* **8**, 198–210 (2015).
- 74. Banchereau, J. *et al.* Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **18**, 767–811 (2000).
- 75. Martín-Fontecha, A. *et al.* Regulation of dendritic cell migration to the draining lymph node: Impact on T lymphocyte traffic and priming. *J. Exp. Med.* **198**, 615–621 (2003).
- 76. Le Roux, D. *et al.* Antigen stored in dendritic cells after macropinocytosis is released unprocessed from late endosomes to target B cells. *Blood* **119**, 95–105 (2012).
- Heesters, B. a *et al.* Endocytosis and recycling of immune complexes by follicular dendritic cells enhances B cell antigen binding and activation. *Immunity* 38, 1164–75 (2013).
- 78. Heath, W. R., Kato, Y., Steiner, T. M. & Caminschi, I. Antigen presentation by dendritic cells for B cell activation. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **58**, 44–52 (2019).
- 79. Bergtold, A., Desai, D. D., Gavhane, A. & Clynes, R. Cell surface recycling of internalized antigen permits dendritic cell priming of B cells. *Immunity* **23**, 503–14 (2005).
- 80. Worbs, T., Hammerschmidt, S. I. & Förster, R. Dendritic cell migration in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **17**, 30–48 (2017).
- 81. Steinman, R. M. & Witmer, M. D. Lymphoid dendritic cells are potent stimulators of the primary mixed leukocyte reaction in mice Immunology : **75**, 5132–5136 (1978).
- 82. Makia, D. *et al.* Article Lack of Conventional Dendritic Cells Is Compatible with Normal Development and T Cell Homeostasis , but Causes Myeloid Proliferative Syndrome. (2008). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.10.012

- 83. Dennis, M. K. *et al.* In vivo depletion of CD11c+ dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8+ T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. *Immunity* **17**, 221–220 (2002).
- 84. Chen, L. & Flies, D. B. Molecular mechanisms of T cell. 13, 227–242 (2013).
- 85. Reis, C. & Spo, R. Inflammatory mediators are insufficient for full dendritic cell activation and promote expansion of CD4 + T cell populations lacking helper function. **6**, 163–170 (2005).
- 86. Hawiger, D. *et al.* Dendritic Cells Induce Peripheral T Cell Unresponsiveness Under Steady-state Conditions In Vivo. **194**, (2001).
- 87. Probst, H. C., Lagnel, J., Kollias, G., Broek, M. Van Den & Zu, C.-. Resting Dendritic Cells as Potent Inducers of CD8 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> T Cell Tolerance. **18**, 713–720 (2003).
- 88. Trinchieri, G., Pflanz, S. & Kastelein, R. A. The IL-12 Family of Heterodimeric Cytokines : New Players in the Regulation of T Cell Responses. **19**, 641–644 (2003).
- Heufler, C. *et al.* Interleukin-12 is produced by dendritic cells and mediates T helper 1 development as well as interferon-γ production by T helper 1 cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26, 659–668 (1996).
- 90. Fujimoto, K. *et al.* A new subset of CD103+CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in the small intestine expresses TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9 and induces Th1 response and CTL activity. *J. Immunol.* **186**, 6287–95 (2011).
- Mosmann, T. R. & Coffman, R. L. TH1 and TH2 cells: Different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 145–173 (1989).
- 92. Gianfranco, B., Prete, E. D., Carli, M. De, Ricci, M. & Romagnani, S. Helper Activity for Immunoglobulin Synthesis of T Helper Type 1 (Thl) and Th2 Human T Cell Clones: The Help of Thl Clones Is Limited by their Cytolytic Capacity. 174, 809–813 (1991).
- Manfred Kopf, Graham Le Grost, M. B., Marinus C. Lamers, H. B. & KOhler, & G. Disruption of the murine IL-4 gene blocks Th2 cytokine responses. 362, 245–248 (1993).
- 94. Paul, W. E. & Zhu, J. NIH Public Access. 10, 225–235 (2012).
- 95. Exp, I.--producing C. J. *et al.* Pillars Article : Generation of Interleukin 4 (IL-4) producing Cells In Vivo and In Vitro : IL-2 and IL-4 Are Required For In Vitro. **4**, (2008).
- 96. Mangan, P. R. *et al.* Transforming growth factor- b induces development of the T H 17 lineage. **441**, 231–234 (2006).
- 97. Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Gao, W., Awasthi, A. & Science, T. H. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce. (2007). doi:10.1038/nature05970
- 98. Bettelli, E. *et al.* Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector T H 17 and regulatory T cells. (2006). doi:10.1038/nature04753
- 99. Huang, W., Na, L., Fidel, P. L. & Schwarzenberger, P. Requirement of Interleukin-17A for Systemic Anti – Candida albicans Host Defense in Mice. **70122**, (2004).

- 100. Denning, T. L. *et al.* Functional Specializations of Intestinal Dendritic Cell and Macrophage Subsets That Control Th17 and Regulatory T Cell Responses Are Dependent on the T Cell/APC Ratio, Source of Mouse Strain, and Regional Localization. (2011). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002701
- 101. Shimon Sakaguchi, Noriko Sakaguchi, Masanao Asano, Misako Itoh, and M. T. Immunologic Self-Tolerance Maintained by Activated T Cells Expressing 11-2 Receptor a-Chains (CD25). (1995).
- 102. Hadis, U. *et al.* Intestinal Tolerance Requires Gut Homing and Expansion of FoxP3 + Regulatory T Cells in the Lamina Propria. 237–246 (2011). doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.016
- 103. Earle, K. E. *et al.* In vitro expanded human CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells suPPsress effector T cell proliferation. **115**, 3–9 (2005).
- 104. Coombes, J. L. *et al.* A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 1757–1764 (2007).
- 105. Sun, C. M. *et al.* Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 1775–1785 (2007).
- Gerlach, C. *et al.* One naive T cell, multiple fates in CD8 + T cell differentiation.
  207, 1235–1246 (2010).
- Pipkin, M. E. *et al.* Article Interleukin-2 and Inflammation Induce Distinct Transcriptional Programs that Promote the Differentiation of Effector Cytolytic T Cells. *Immunity* 32, 79–90 (2010).
- Sun, T. *et al.* Intestinal Batf3-dependent dendritic cells are required for optimal antiviral T-cell responses in adult and neonatal mice. *Mucosal Immunol.* 10, 775–788 (2017).
- 109. Wykes, M., Pombo, A., Jenkins, C. & MacPherson, G. G. Dendritic cells interact directly with naive B lymphocytes to transfer antigen and initiate class switching in a primary T-dependent response. *J. Immunol.* **161**, 1313–9 (1998).
- ChaPPsell, C. P., Draves, K. E., Giltiay, N. V & Clark, E. A. Extrafollicular B cell activation by marginal zone dendritic cells drives T cell-dependent antibody responses. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 1825–40 (2012).
- 111. Cerutti, A. The regulation of IgA class switching. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **8**, 421–434 (2008).
- 112. Hapfelmeier, S. *et al.* of Bacterial Cyclic Di-Nucleotides Fulfills the Criteria of Ligands That Alert the Immune System To the Presence of Live Pathogenic Bacteria That Engage the Host Cytosol. *Science* **328**, 1705–09 (2010).
- Moreau, M. C., Ducluzeau, R., Guy-Grand, D. & Muller, M. C. Increase in the population of duodenal immunoglobulin A plasmocytes in axenic mice associated with different living or dead bacterial strains of intestinal origin. *Infect. Immun.* 21, 532–539 (1978).
- 114. Xu, W. & Banchereau, J. The antigen presenting cells instruct plasma cell differentiation. *Front. Immunol.* **4**, 504 (2014).

- 115. Macpherson, A. J., McCoy, K. D., Johansen, F.-E. & Brandtzaeg, P. The immune geography of IgA induction and function. *Mucosal Immunol.* **1**, 11–22 (2008).
- 116. Reboldi, A. *et al.* Mucosal immunology: IgA production requires B cell interaction with subepithelial dendritic cells in Peyer's patches. *Science (80-. ).* **352**, (2016).
- 117. Fagarasan, S., Kawamoto, S., Kanagawa, O. & Suzuki, K. Adaptive Immune Regulation in the Gut: T Cell–Dependent and T Cell–Independent IgA Synthesis. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 28, 243–273 (2010).
- Fagarasan, S., Kinoshita, K., Muramatsu, M., Ikuta, K. & Honjo, T. In situ class switching and differentiation to IgA-producing cells in the gut lamina propria. *Nature* 413, 639–643 (2001).
- 119. Fagarasan, S. & Honjo, T. T-independent immune response: New aspects of B cell biology. *Science (80-. ).* **290**, 89–92 (2000).
- Litinskiy, M. B. *et al.* DCs induce CD40-independent immunoglobulin class switching through BLyS and APRIL. *Nat. Immunol.* 3, 822–9 (2002).
- 121. Mackay, F., Schneider, P., Rennert, P. & Browning, J. BAFF and APRIL: A tutorial on B cell survival. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **21**, 231–264 (2003).
- 122. Fagarasan, S. & Honjo, T. Intestinal IgA synthesis: regulation of front-line body defences. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **3**, 63–72 (2003).
- 123. Schiemann, B. *et al.* An essential role for BAFF in the normal development of B cells through a BCMA-independent pathway. *Science (80-. ).* 293, 2111–2114 (2001).
- 124. Castigli, E. *et al.* Impaired IgA class switching inn APRIL-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **101**, 3903–3908 (2004).
- 125. Stavnezer, J. & Kang, J. The Surprising Discovery That TGF Specifically Induces the IgA Class Switch. J. Immunol. **182**, 5–7 (2009).
- 126. ROBERT, L. COFFMAN, D., LEBMAN, A. & SHRADER, B. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR # SPECIFICALLY ENHANCES IGA PRODUCTION BY LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-STIMULATED MURINE B LYMPHOCYTES. J. Exp. MED 170, 1039–1044 (1989).
- 127. Lebman, D. A., Nomura, D. Y., Coffman, R. L. & Lee, F. D. Molecular characterization of germ-line immunoglobulin A transcripts produced during transforming growth factor type β-induced isotype switching. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 87, 3962–3966 (1990).
- 128. Sonoda, E. *et al.* Transforming growth factor β induces IgA production and acts additively with interleukin 5 for IgA production. *J. Exp. Med.* **170**, 1415–1420 (1989).
- Rifkin, D. B. Latent transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β) binding proteins: Orchestrators of TGF-β availability. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 7409–7412 (2005).
- Jenkins, G. The role of proteases in transforming growth factor-β activation. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 40, 1068–1078 (2008).
- Annes, J. P., Munger, J. S. & Rifkin, D. B. Making sense of latent TGFβ activation. J. Cell Sci. 116, 217–224 (2003).

- Munger, J. S. *et al.* The integrin αvβ6 binds and activates latent TGFβ1: A mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Cell* 96, 319–328 (1999).
- 133. Mu, D. *et al.* The integrin αvβ8 mediates epithelial homeostasis through MT1-MMPdependent activation of TGF-β1. *J. Cell Biol.* **157**, 493–507 (2002).
- 134. Schweigert, F. J., Raila, J., Harrison, E. H. & Mahmood Hussain, M. Mechanisms involved in the intestinal digestion and absorption of dietary vitamin A [2] (multiple letters). *J. Nutr.* **132**, 324–325 (2002).
- Bono, M. R. *et al.* Retinoic acid as a modulator of T cell immunity. *Nutrients* 8, (2016).
- 136. Duester, G., Mic, F. A. & Molotkov, A. Cytosolic retinoid dehydrogenases govern ubiquitous metabolism of retinol to retinaldehyde followed by tissue-specific metabolism to retinoic acid. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* **143–144**, 201–210 (2003).
- Tokuyama, H. & Tokuyama, H. Retinoids enhance iga production by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated murine spleen cells. *Cellular Immunology* 150, 353– 363 (1993).
- 138. Tokuyama, Y. & Tokuyama, H. Retinoids as Ig isotype-switch modulators the role of retinoids in directing isotype switching to IgA and IgG1 (IgE) in association with IL-4 and IL-5. *Cell. Immunol.* **170**, 230–234 (1996).
- 139. Surman, S. L., Jones, B. G., Sealy, R. E., Rudraraju, R. & Hurwitz, J. L. Oral retinyl palmitate or retinoic acid corrects mucosal IgA responses toward an intranasal influenza virus vaccine in vitamin A deficient mice. *Vaccine* **32**, 2521–2524 (2014).
- 140. Kang, S.-H. *et al.* Lactoferrin Combined with Retinoic Acid Stimulates B1 Cells to Express IgA Isotype and Gut-homing Molecules. *Immune Netw.* **15**, 37 (2015).
- 141. Mora, J. R. *et al.* Generation of gut-homing IgA-secreting B cells by intestinal dendritic cells. *Science* **314**, 1157–60 (2006).
- 142. Mora, J. R. & von Andrian, U. H. Role of retinoic acid in the imprinting of guthoming IgA-secreting cells. *Semin. Immunol.* **21**, 28–35 (2009).
- Svensson, M. *et al.* Retinoic acid receptor signaling levels and antigen dose regulate gut homing receptor expression on CD8+ T cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* 1, 38–48 (2008).
- 144. Iwata, M. *et al.* Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. *Immunity* 21, 527–538 (2004).
- 145. Benson, M. J., Pino-Lagos, K., Rosemblatt, M. & Noelle, R. J. All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 1765–1774 (2007).
- 146. Iwata, M., Eshima, Y. & Kagechika, H. Retinoic acids exert direct effects on T cells to suPPsress Th1 development and enhance Th2 development via retinoic acid receptors. *Int. Immunol.* 15, 1017–1025 (2003).
- 147. Stephensen, C. B., Borowsky, A. D. & Lloyd, K. C. K. Disruption of Rxra gene in thymocytes and T lymphocytes modestly alters lymphocyte frequencies, proliferation, survival and T helper type 1/type 2 balance. *Immunology* **121**, 484–498 (2007).

- 148. Xiao, S. *et al.* Retinoic Acid Increases Foxp3 + Regulatory T Cells and Inhibits Development of Th17 Cells by Enhancing TGF-β-Driven Smad3 Signaling and Inhibiting IL-6 and IL-23 Receptor Expression . *J. Immunol.* **181**, 2277–2284 (2008).
- 149. Mielke, L. A. *et al.* Retinoic acid expression associates with enhanced IL-22 production by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and innate lymphoid cells and attenuation of intestinal inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* **210**, 1117–1124 (2013).
- 150. Hong, K. *et al.* All-trans retinoic acid attenuates experimental colitis through inhibition of NF-κB signaling. *Immunol. Lett.* **162**, 34–40 (2014).
- 151. Okayasu, I. *et al.* Vitamin A Inhibits Development of Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Colitis and Colon Cancer in a Mouse Model. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2016**, (2016).
- 152. Cyster, J. G. & Schwab, S. R. Sphingosine-1-Phosphate and Lymphocyte Egress from Lymphoid Organs. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **30**, 69–94 (2012).
- 153. Mandl, J. N. *et al.* Quantification of lymph node transit times reveals differences in antigen surveillance strategies of naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **109**, 18036–18041 (2012).
- 154. Girard, J. P. & Springer, T. A. High endothelial venules (HEVs): specialized endothelium for lymphocyte migration. *Immunol. Today* **16**, 449–457 (1995).
- 155. Grigorova, I. L., Panteleev, M. & Cyster, J. G. Lymph node cortical sinus organization and relationship to lymphocyte egress dynamics and antigen exposure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107, 20447–20452 (2010).
- 156. Mionnet, C. *et al.* High endothelial venules as traffic control points maintaining lymphocyte population homeostasis in lymph nodes. *Blood* **118**, 6115–6122 (2011).
- 157. Hall, J. G. & Morris, B. The immediate effect of antigens on the cell output of a lymph node. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* **46**, 450–454 (1965).
- Cahill, R. N. P., Frost, H. & Trnka, Z. The effects of antigen on the migration of recirculating lymphocytes through single lymph nodes. *J. Exp. Med.* 143, 870–888 (1976).
- Schulz, O. *et al.* Hypertrophy of infected Peyer's patches arises from global, interferon-receptor, and CD69-independent shutdown of lymphocyte egress. *Mucosal Immunol.* 7, 892–904 (2014).
- McConnell, I. & Hopkins, J. Lymphocyte traffic through antigen-stimulated lymph nodes. I. Complement activation within lymph nodes initiates cell shutdown. *Immunology* 42, 217–223 (1981).
- 161. McLachlan, J. B. *et al.* Mast cell-derived tumour necrosis factor induces hypertrophy of draining lymph nodes during infection. *Nat. Immunol.* **4**, 1199–1205 (2003).
- Kamphuis, E., Junt, T., Waibler, Z., Forster, R. & Kalinke, U. Type I interferons directly regulate lymphocyte recirculation and cause transient blood lymphopenia. *Blood* 108, 3253–61 (2006).
- Baeyens, A., Fang, V., Chen, C. & Schwab, S. R. Exit Strategies: S1P Signaling and T Cell Migration. *Trends Immunol.* 36, 778–787 (2015).
- Schwab, S. R. & Cyster, J. G. Finding a way out: Lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 1295–1301 (2007).

- 165. Pham, T. H. M., Okada, T., Matloubian, M., Lo, C. G. & Cyster, J. G. S1P1 Receptor Signaling Overrides Retention Mediated by Gαi-Coupled Receptors to Promote T Cell Egress. *Immunity* 28, 122–133 (2008).
- 166. Shiow, L. R. *et al.* CD69 acts downstream of interferon-α/β to inhibit S1P 1 and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Nature* 440, 540–544 (2006).
- 167. Trevejo, J. M. *et al.* TNF-α-dependent maturation of local dendritic cells is critical for activating the adaptive immune response to virus infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 98, 12162–12167 (2001).
- Mingzhao Zhu\*,†, Yajun Yang\*, Yugang Wang†, Zhongnan Wang\*, and Y.-X. F. LIGHT regulates inflamed draining lymph node hypertrophyNIH Public Access. *Bone* 23, 1–7 (2008).
- Nakawesi, J., Muleta, K. G., Dasoveanu, D., Johansson-Lindbom, B. & Lahl, K. Rotavirus infection causes mesenteric lymph node hypertrophy independently of type I interferon or TNFa in mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1–10 (2020). doi:10.1002/eji.202048990
- 170. Nakai, A., Hayano, Y., Furuta, F., Noda, M. & Suzuki, K. Control of lymphocyte egress from lymph nodes through β2-adrenergic receptors. *J. Exp. Med.* 211, 2583– 2598 (2014).
- 171. Tay, M. H. D. *et al.* Halted lymphocyte egress via efferent lymph contributes to lymph node hypertrophy during hypercholesterolemia. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, 1–14 (2019).
- 172. Bishop, R. F., Davidson, G. P., Holmes, I. H. & Ruck, B. J. Virus Particles in Epithelial Cells of Duodenal Mucosa From Children With Acute Non-Bacterial Gastroenteritis. *Lancet* **302**, 1281–1283 (1973).
- 173. Lundgren, O. & Svensson, L. Pathogenesis of Rotavirus diarrhea. *Microbes Infect.* **3**, 1145–1156 (2001).
- Ramig, R. F. Pathogenesis of Intestinal and Systemic Rotavirus Infection MINIREVIEW Pathogenesis of Intestinal and Systemic Rotavirus Infection. J. Virol. 78, 10213–20 (2004).
- 175. Suzuki, H. Rotavirus replication: Gaps of knowledge on virus entry and morphogenesis. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* **248**, 285–296 (2019).
- 176. Crawford, S. E. et al. Rotavirus infection. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 3, (2017).
- 177. States, M., Group, S. A. & Membres, E. Pneumococcal vaccines WHO position paper--2012. *Wkly. Epidemiol. Rec.* 87, 129–144 (2012).
- 178. Troeger, C. *et al.* Estimates of global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of diarrhoeal diseases: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **17**, 909–948 (2017).
- Troeger, C. *et al.* Rotavirus Vaccination and the Global Burden of Rotavirus Diarrhea among Children Younger Than 5 Years. *JAMA Pediatr.* 172, 958–965 (2018).
- 180. Tate, J. E. *et al.* Global, Regional, and National Estimates of Rotavirus Mortality in Children <5 Years of Age, 2000-2013. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **62**, S96–S105 (2016).

- 181. Committee, S., Biochemist, T. G., Hospital, M., S-l, W. & S, B. Rotavirus in the home and hospital nursery Latissimus dorsi reconstruction of the breast. *Br. Med. J.* 287, 568–569 (1983).
- 182. Dennehy, P. H. Transmission of rotavirus and other enteric pathogens in the home. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* **19**, 103–105 (2000).
- 183. Junaid, S. A., Umeh, C., Olabode, A. O. & Banda, J. M. Incidence of rotavirus infection in children with gastroenteritis attending Jos university teaching hospital, Nigeria. *Virol. J.* 8, 1–8 (2011).
- 184. Sadiq, A., Bostan, N., Yinda, K. C., Naseem, S. & Sattar, S. Rotavirus: Genetics, pathogenesis and vaccine advances. *Rev. Med. Virol.* 28, 1–13 (2018).
- 185. Dharakul, T., Riepenhoff-Talty, M., Albini, B. & Ogra, P. L. Distribution of rotavirus antigen in intestinal lymphoid tissues: potential role in development of the mucosal immune response to rotavirus. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 74, 14–9 (1988).
- Van Trang, N. *et al.* Association between norovirus and rotavirus infection and histoblood group antigen types in vietnamese children. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 52, 1366–1374 (2014).
- Abdelhakim, A. H. *et al.* Structural Correlates of Rotavirus Cell Entry. *PLoS Pathog.* 10, (2014).
- Arias, C. F., Silva-Ayala, D. & López, S. Rotavirus Entry: a Deep Journey into the Cell with Several Exits. J. Virol. 89, 890–893 (2015).
- 189. Pott, J. *et al.* Age-dependent TLR3 expression of the intestinal epithelium contributes to rotavirus susceptibility. *PLoS Pathog.* **8**, (2012).
- Broquet, A. H., Hirata, Y., McAllister, C. S. & Kagnoff, M. F. RIG-I/MDA5/MAVS Are Required To Signal a Protective IFN Response in Rotavirus-Infected Intestinal Epithelium. J. Immunol. 186, 1618–1626 (2011).
- 191. Rollo, E. E. *et al.* The epithelial cell response to rotavirus infection. *J. Immunol.* **163**, 4442–52 (1999).
- 192. Mahlakõiv, T., Hernandez, P., Gronke, K., Diefenbach, A. & Staeheli, P. Leukocyte-Derived IFN-α/β and Epithelial IFN-λ Constitute a Compartmentalized Mucosal Defense System that Restricts Enteric Virus Infections. *PLoS Pathog.* **11**, 1–19 (2015).
- Pott, J. *et al.* IFN-λ determines the intestinal epithelial antiviral host defense. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108, 7944–7949 (2011).
- 194. Lin, J. Da *et al.* Distinct Roles of Type I and Type III Interferons in Intestinal Immunity to Homologous and Heterologous Rotavirus Infections. *PLoS Pathog.* 12, 1–29 (2016).
- 195. Hernández, P. P. *et al.* Interferon-γ and interleukin 22 act synergistically for the induction of interferon-stimulated genes and control of rotavirus infection. *Nat. Immunol.* **16**, 698–707 (2015).
- 196. Sen, A., Sharma, A. & Greenberg, H. B. Rotavirus Degrades Multiple Interferon (IFN) Type Receptors To Inhibit IFN Signaling and Protects against Mortality from Endotoxin in Suckling Mice. J. Virol. 92, 1–15 (2017).

- 197. Adrish Sen, Nima D. Namsa, Ningguo Feng, H. B. G. Rotavirus Reprograms Multiple Interferon Receptors and Restricts Their Intestinal Antiviral and Inflammatory Functions Adrish. 1–13 (2020).
- 198. Arnold, M. M. & Patton, J. T. Diversity of Interferon Antagonist Activities Mediated by NSP1 Proteins of Different Rotavirus Strains. *J. Virol.* **85**, 1970–1979 (2011).
- 199. Sen, A., Rott, L., Phan, N., Mukherjee, G. & Greenberg, H. B. Rotavirus NSP1 Protein Inhibits Interferon-Mediated STAT1 Activation. J. Virol. 88, 41–53 (2014).
- Offit, P. A. & Clark, A. H. F. Protection Against Rotavirus-Induced Gastroenteritis in a Murine Model by Passively Acquired Gastrointestinal But Not Circulating Antibodies. J. Virol. 54, 58–64 (1985).
- Offit, P. a, Shaw, R. D. & Greenberg, H. B. Passive protection against rotavirusinduced diarrhea by monoclonal antibodies to surface proteins vp3 and vp7. *J. Virol.* 58, 700–703 (1986).
- Blutt, S. E., Miller, A. D., Salmon, S. L., Metzger, D. W. & Conner, M. E. IgA is important for clearance and critical for protection from rotavirus infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* 5, 712–9 (2012).
- 203. Franco, M. A., Angel, J. & Greenberg, H. B. Immunity and correlates of protection for rotavirus vaccines. *Vaccine* **24**, 2718–2731 (2006).
- 204. Angel, J., Franco, M. a. & Greenberg, H. B. Rotavirus immune responses and correlates of protection. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* **2**, 419–25 (2012).
- Franco, M. A. & Greenberg, H. B. Immunity to rotavirus in T cell deficient mice. Virology 238, 169–179 (1997).
- Franco, M. A. & Greenberg, H. B. Immunity to rotavirus infection in mice. *J Infect Dis* 179 SuPPsI, S466-9 (1999).
- Franco, M. A. & Greenberg, H. B. Role of B cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes in clearance of and immunity to rotavirus infection in mice. J. Virol. 69, 7800–6 (1995).
- 208. Center for Disease Control. Withdrawal of Rotavirus Vaccine Recommendation. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm4843a5.htm. (Accessed: 30th December 2020)
- 209. Vesikari, T. *et al.* Safety and Efficacy of a Pentavalent Human–Bovine (WC3) Reassortant Rotavirus Vaccine. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **354**, 23–33 (2006).
- 210. Breuer, T. et al. new england journal. 11-22 (2006).
- 211. Burnett, E., Jonesteller, C. L., Tate, J. E., Yen, C. & Parashar, U. D. Global impact of rotavirus vaccination on childhood hospitalizations and mortality from diarrhea. *J. Infect. Dis.* **215**, 1666–1672 (2017).
- Velasquez, D. E., Parashar, U. & Jiang, B. Decreased performance of live attenuated, oral rotavirus vaccines in low-income settings: causes and contributing factors. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* 17, 145–161 (2018).
- 213. Zaman, K. *et al.* Efficacy of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis in infants in developing countries in Asia: A randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* **376**, 615–623 (2010).

- 214. Armah, G. E. *et al.* Efficacy of pentavalent rotavirus vaccine against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis in infants in developing countries in sub-Saharan Africa: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* **376**, 606–614 (2010).
- 215. Godfrey, O. *et al.* Evidence of rotavirus vaccine impact in sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* **15**, 1–13 (2020).
- 216. Lee, K. S., Lee, Y. R., Park, S. Y. & Oh, I. H. The economic burden of rotavirus infection in South Korea from 2009 to 2012. *PLoS One* **13**, 1–11 (2018).
- 217. Atherly, D. E., Lewis, K. D. C., Tate, J., Parashar, U. D. & Rheingans, R. D. Projected health and economic impact of rotavirus vaccination in GAVI-eligible countries: 2011-2030. *Vaccine* **30**, A7 (2012).
- 218. Smatti, M. K. *et al.* Viruses and autoimmunity: A review on the potential interaction and molecular mechanisms. *Viruses* **11**, 1–18 (2019).
- Gómez-Rial, J., Rivero-Calle, I., Salas, A. & Martinón-Torres, F. Rotavirus and autoimmunity. J. Infect. 81, 183–189 (2020).
- Graham, K. L. *et al.* Rotavirus Infection of Infant and Young Adult Nonobese Diabetic Mice Involves Extraintestinal Spread and Delays Diabetes Onset. *J. Virol.* 81, 6446–6458 (2007).
- 221. Hemming-Harlo, M., Lähdeaho, M. L., Mäki, M. & Vesikari, T. Rotavirus Vaccination Does Not Increase Type 1 Diabetes and May Decrease Celiac Disease in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 38, 539–541 (2019).
- 222. Vaarala, O., Jokinen, J., Lahdenkari, M. & Leino, T. Rotavirus Vaccination and the Risk of Celiac Disease or Type 1 Diabetes in Finnish Children at Early Life. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* **36**, 674–675 (2017).
- 223. Stene, L. C. Rotavirus Infection Frequency and Risk of Celiac Disease Aut...: Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG. Available at: https://journals.lww.com/ajg/Abstract/2006/10000/Rotavirus\_Infection\_Frequency\_a nd\_Risk\_of\_Celiac.26.aspx?\_cf\_chl\_jschl\_tk\_=c233b5cd3e37a9063c498b606a9cc eb83ec4ea68-1609327662-0-AZGzl8JjeuY\_u-Ta14NkyqrwAfTeSI9Ojcib2DAUFWAgfZQanZQLEO5MDf8h0nX1lUC\_Hip6LDUB 9-vG\_E\_5zQteNnM1w8P4llfOxKHG-U9lxhuLuwKtj\_uNo7c1tdbup6DwPU1iMoq6VqKZ\_qJwDsF1y3vuqIP0qcIPSb4QUI -KtWPcBRebcu-wEAXYRrsu-2NtnRUOeMv8BLBhghZaI9CUSytuGo9ByVANY7Ly7d-H9rsDfsVh9Jbg68qJ0Qk6VQc8W9o7SmbSo0Iz1QYLa2Syiih5lkFyLIPUxSBoKIud bZdmicv7TCYOKjmB1RkO9nSHb3Hgds9lntPG7IDbQRZrpBrkJnYGyy1jlyII5lRhEeJ\_uEBkaInB6DUs8FQ774zMX8b2W7wvIbYUMiXfrvsor7WLBk8w3OOpo\_X WOwZXWhCTSqDv3E8IiNsIrj7vfOnOlqic3m7q8x4yCuVuTxwlJEZQGHUIR0zm MLV7-a. (Accessed: 30th December 2020)
- 224. KemPPsainen, K. M. et al. HHS Public Access. 15, 694-702 (2018).
- 225. Snell-Bergeon, J. K. *et al.* Early childhood infections and the risk of islet autoimmunity: The Diabetes Autoimmunity Study in the Young (DAISY). *Diabetes Care* **35**, 2553–2558 (2012).

- 226. Honeyman, M. C. *et al.* Association between rotavirus infection and pancreatic islet autoimmunity in children at risk of developing type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 49, 1319– 1324 (2000).
- 227. Rogers, M. A. M., Basu, T. & Kim, C. Lower Incidence Rate of Type 1 Diabetes after Receipt of the Rotavirus Vaccine in the United States, 2001–2017. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 1–8 (2019).
- 228. Norman, J. M. *et al.* Disease-specific alterations in the enteric virome in inflammatory bowel disease. *Cell* **160**, 447–460 (2015).
- 229. Li, X. D. *et al.* Mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS) monitors commensal bacteria and induces an immune response that prevents experimental colitis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **108**, 17390–17395 (2011).
- Yang, J. Y. *et al.* Enteric Viruses Ameliorate Gut Inflammation via Toll-like Receptor 3 and Toll-like Receptor 7-Mediated Interferon-β Production. *Immunity* 44, 889–900 (2016).
- 231. Li, C. *et al.* Early-life programming of mesenteric lymph node stromal cell identity by the lymphotoxin pathway regulates adult mucosal immunity. *Sci. Immunol.* **4**, 1–18 (2019).
- Bemark, M., Boysen, P. & Lycke, N. Y. Induction of gut IgA production through T cell-dependent and T cell-independent pathways. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1247, 97–116 (2012).
- 233. Le Bon, A. *et al.* Type I interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells in vivo. *Immunity* 14, 461–470 (2001).
- Nice, T. J. *et al.* Type I Interferon Receptor Deficiency in Dendritic Cells Facilitates Systemic Murine Norovirus Persistence Despite Enhanced Adaptive Immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 12, 1–19 (2016).
- 235. Borsutzky, S., Cazac, B. B., Roes, J. & Guzmán, C. A. TGF-β Receptor Signaling Is Critical for Mucosal IgA Responses. J. Immunol. 173, 3305–3309 (2004).
- 236. Islam, K. B., Nilsson, L., Sideras, P., Hammarström, L. & Smith, C. I. E. TGF-β1 induces germ-line transcripts of both IgA subclasses in human B lymphocytes. *Int. Immunol.* 3, 1099–1106 (1991).
- 237. Xie, J. H. *et al.* Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor Agonism Impairs the Efficiency of the Local Immune Response by Altering Trafficking of Naive and Antigen-Activated CD4 + T Cells. *J. Immunol.* **170**, 3662–3670 (2003).
- 238. Moussion, C. & Girard, J. P. Dendritic cells control lymphocyte entry to lymph nodes through high endothelial venules. *Nature* **479**, 542–546 (2011).
- Blutt, S. E., Warfield, K. L., Lewis, D. E. & Conner, M. E. Early response to rotavirus infection involves massive B cell activation. *J. Immunol.* 168, 5716–21 (2002).
- Kamphuis, E., Junt, T., Waibler, Z., Forster, R. & Kalinke, U. Type I interferons directly regulate lymphocyte recirculation and cause transient blood lymphopenia. *Blood* 108, 3253–3261 (2006).

- 241. Zhu, M. & Fu, Y. X. The role of core TNF/LIGHT family members in lymph node homeostasis and remodeling. *Immunol. Rev.* 244, 75–84 (2011).
- 242. Zhu, M., Yang, Y., Wang, Y., Wang, Z. & Fu, Y.-X. LIGHT Regulates Inflamed Draining Lymph Node Hypertrophy. J. Immunol. 186, 7156–7163 (2011).
- 243. Cinamon, G. *et al.* Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 promotes B cell localization in the splenic marginal zone. *Nat. Immunol.* **5**, 713–720 (2004).
- 244. Tino et al. Retinoic Acid can derectly promote Treg. 30, 471–473 (2010).
- 245. Brown, C. C. *et al.* Retinoic acid is essential for th1 cell lineage stability and prevents transition to a Th17 cell program. *Immunity* **42**, 499–511 (2015).
- 246. Weinreich, M. A. & Hogquist, K. A. Thymic Emigration: When and How T Cells Leave Home. J. Immunol. 181, 2265–2270 (2008).
- 247. Miller, C. H. *et al.* Eomes identifies thymic precursors of self-specific memoryphenotype CD8+ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **21**, 567–577 (2020).
- 248. Uematsu, S. *et al.* Regulation of humoral and cellular gut immunity by lamina propria dendritic cells expressing Toll-like receptor 5. *Nat. Immunol.* **9**, 769–76 (2008).